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Dear Stockholders:

Fiscal year 2007 was a demanding turn-around year for Network Equipment Technologies, but we: emerged a stronger, more focused
company. We released new network exchange products and voice exchang: products that are already receiving a positive response
from our customers and partners. We implemented a strategy for extending our reach into broader markets by aligning our product
development and sales strategy to support Microsoft's introduction of its next generation communications products. We accom-
plished these and other objectives while also adding to our solid balance sheet.

Building on our nearly quarter-of-a-century history of developing and supporting government and enterprise networks, we made a
significant investment in research and development with an emphasis on interoperability and in“egration with existing networks for
migration to secure Internet Protocol {IP} based voice and data communications.

Additions to our NX Series netwark exchange product line included the introduction of the MX5010, a high-performance, multi-
service aggregation switch. The most recent release of this product enables high-speed SONET transfer, extends the product's
Infiniband-over-WAN capabilities, and delivers synchronized encryption to enable real-time communications for both government
and commercial customers. Qur first deployments included Federal Government and Department of Defense high-speed security
solutions. We are now looking into opportunities for expansion into entarprise markets to daliver high-performance computing,
storage, visualization, and disaster-recovery solutions.

The NX1000, our second NX Series product, is a flexible, cost-effective IP access solution that facilitates migration of legacy traffic
into new network infrastructures. The NX1000 was a significant development for us, as it provides a replacement and upgrade
strategy for our Federal installed base of more than 5,000 nodes, plus offers customers the functionality to expand current netwarks
with less disruption, while integrating to IP-based networks.

Our VX Series voice exchange product line gained traction in the marketplace with important customers such as the U.S. Navy and
the Marine Corps. An upgrade release of the VX900 in the second half of fiscal year 2007 incieased the number of secure, simul-
taneous calls in a single node from 25 ta 100. As a result of this enhancement, we were awarced an initial order for installation on
select Naval vessels for ship to ship and ship to shore communications. ‘ear over year, sales ¢f our VX platform more than tripled.

While sales of our products continug to be predominantly in the government market, we are establishing key partnerships in order
to expand our reach into the enterprise market. These partnerships provide an establisher! channel for our products into the
enterprise market and provide our partners with a telephony integration solution for customers loaking to adopt Microsoft's unified
messaging and unified communications solutions, which we believe can bring significant competitive advantage and cost savings
to enterprises that integrate them into their existing voice networks and kusiness applications

Migration requires interoperability with existing voice systems and networks, and our recently launched VX1200 Unified
Communications gateway was designed with this in mind. The VX1200 enables enterprises to intagrate Microsoft's unified messaging
and unified communications solutions into their existing voice networks and PBX systems. Several customer trials are currently
underway to demonstrate this product's interoperability, security and scalability.

We have also moved forward on a program to help accelerate the adoption of unified messaying and unified communications for
enterprise customers. This program includes the deployment of our VX solution supported by NET professional services teamed to
deploy pilot systems into key customer accounts with our pariners. This strategy is designed to help Micrasoft and NET partners
accelerate the creation and delivery of unified messaging and unified communications solutions. To date, this program has already
yielded a number of pilots in North America and overseas.

We have again set the bar high with our expectations for fiscal 2008. | beieve we have laicf a foundation for stable growth and
have brought together an exceptional team of professionals that share in the common goal of NET's success. | would like to thank
our shareholders and employees for their on-going commitment and support.

e

€. Nicholas Keating Jr.
President and Chief Execyt
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PART 1
Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this Form 10-K that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securittes laws that relate to future events or our future financial performance. A forward-
looking statement may contain words such as “plans,” “hopes,” “belicves,” “estimates,” “will,” “continue to,”
“expect to.” “anticipate that,” “to be.” or “can affect.” Forward-looking statements are based upon management
expectations, forecasts and assumptions that involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results 1o difter
materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Many factors may cause actual resulis
to vary including. but not limited to, the factors discussed in this Form [0-K. We expressly disclaim any obligation
or undertaking to revise or publicly release any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained in
this Form 10-K except as required by law. Investors should carefully review the risk factors described in this Form
10-K along with other documents the Company files from time to time with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC).

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Network Equipment Technologies, Inc. (N.E.T.) founded in 1983, develops and sells voice and data
telecommunications equipment for mulu-service networks requiring high degrees of versatility, interoperability,
security and performance. N.E.T. offers an array of products purpose-built for mixed-service, multi-protocol
networks: bandwidth-sensitive site communications: high performance, security-sensitive transmissions: and
converged communications. N.E.T. delivers solutions that cnable seamless integration and migration of existing
networks to secure internet protocol (IP)-based voice and data communications,

Our Promina product line, which is now purchased mostly by government customers, has continued to provide the
majority of our revenue in recent years. We expect revenue from Promina products to decline as customers continue
to move from narrowband, circuit-switched networking o [P-based communications. We believe, however, that we
have growth opportunities in our new products that allow entities to nugrate existing networks to 1P, while ensuring
interoperability and continuing to provide high levels of security and reliability.

N.E.T. s new product lines include the VX Series and NX Scrics. The VX Series offers enterprise customers a
voice-over-1P (VolP) solution that interoperates with existing private branch exchange (PBX) and IP-PBX systems,
and offers government customers an IP-based secure voice solution with high bandwidth efficiency and call
performance. Our NX Scries is comprised of two new platforms: the NX 1000, which is our next-generation mulu-
service wide area networking (WAN) switch in a compact form factor, and the NX50 10 high-speed switch.
providing data transfer at rates of ten gigabits per second (10Gbps). The NX5010 enubles high-speed, secure
interconnection and extension of geographically distributed grid computing clusters and storage area neiworks
(SANs).

We have a worldwide customer base that includes both governmental entities and enterprise customers in North
America, Europe. Latin America. the Middle East, and Asia. Our government customers include a variety of federal
and international agencics and organizations, including civilian and defense agencies and resellers to such entities,
We target cnterprise customers in a varicty of sectors such as financial services, manufacturing. transportation, and
retail. Our global support and service organization, along with third-party service organizations, provides installation
and other professional services, a varicty of maintenance programs, technical assistance, and customer training,

Industry Background

Telecommunications networks have evolved rapidly over the past few decades. The 1980s saw a shift away from
public networks and application-specific networks to integrated private networks. These carly WANs were
constructed around fully-dedicated circuits to achieve high reliability along with cost savings. During the early
1990s, with the increasing availability of high-bandwidth switched digital services such as Integrated Services
Digital Network (ISDN) and frame relay. demand grew for enterprise network platforms 1o manage switched
services in conjunction with enterprise networks. In response to expanding requirements for equipment to support
multiple technoelogies, application types, and services on a single communications platform. multiservice platforms
were developed.

To take advantage of the increased bandwidth enabled by high-capacity connections such as optical fiber, new
{echnologics were developed including Asynchronous Transfer Mode (ATM) and IP. Rapid expansion in use of the
internet for commercial and consumer purposes, and the growth of data services as an increasing portion of
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telecommunications traffic, resulted in tremendous demand for broadband solutions using cell or packet switching as
contrasted with narrowband circuit-switched approaches. Packet-switched networks have h.storically been built
mainly for carrying non real-time data, and circuit-switched networks continue Lo offer certain advantages for
networks requiring the most secure and reliably deterministic communications. Although d:mand has been declining
for a number of years, there is still currently a smalt market for circuit-switched products, particularly in
environments with low bandwidth requirements.

With the advent of VolP technologies, traditionally separate voice and data environmenis have begun to converge,
VolIP allows for the transmission of voice along with other data over packet-routed networl:s, and provides an
alternative to traditional circuit-switched 1elephone networks. As a result of the potential cost savings and added
feawures of VoIP, consumers, enterprises, telecommunication service providers and others are increasingly adopting
VolP for their voice communications. This growth has been aided by technological advances that have recently
improved the quality and reliability of VolP connections to rival that of traditional telephone circuit service,
including security features, and by innovations that allow VolP connections to include sen ices not available on
traditional voice-only networks. VolP transmissions, by virtue of the data flow over open packet-routed networks,
are inherently not secure unless encryption or other security enhancements are applied to the transmission,

The increasing use of VolP transmissions over different types of networks, such as fixed-line, cellular, and short-
distance wireless, creates an opportunity to use a single protocol for these transmissions, a’lowing for a convergence
of fixed and mobile communications, As an example of this fixed-mobile convergence (FMC), enterprises can
enable subscribers to roam and handover calls beiween cellular networks and public and p-ivate wireless networks
using dual-mode mobile handsets. With the proliferation of communications equipment and devices such as Private
Branch Exchanges (PBXs), mobile phones, and desktop-PC clients, aleng with a multitude: of communications tools
such as e-mail, voicemail, calendaring, internet messaging (IM), and video conferencing. enterprises are facing
significant challenges to enable their workforces to efficiently manage their communicatic ns. To address this
complexity, Microsoft has announced its Unified Communications (UC) strategy, which i aimed at integrating
these vartous forms of communication. Microsoft has integrated its market-share leading Exchange Server product
into its next-generation UC products.

As the U.S, Federal Government moves to an all-IP network, there will be new applications, such as field-
deployable VoIP gateways, secure data transmission in high performance networks, and grid computing
applications. For example, many government agencies must incorporate advanced, high speed data services into
their networks while providing interoperability with the broad base of network technologizs and applications that
have been deployed over the years. Many new applications, such as those involving grid computing, will require
high-grade data transfer between SANs and WANs. InfiniBand is a communications technology for high
performance networks that can interconnect large “compute clusters™ due to its progressiye scalability and extremely
low latency. Until now, InfiniBand has been confined within the data center due to its sub-20 meter cable length
limitations. New, very high-speed network processing chips make it possible to remove this limitation, so that
remotely located data centers and grid computing elements can be interconnected seamlessly with InfiniBand.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to provide customers with intelligent, multi-service network and voice exchange platforms for the
secure, high-speed transport of voice, video, and data traffic that are designed to:

¢ Facilitate network evolution and interoperability
¢ Suppori a broad array of access technologies
s Reduce risks associated with introducing new network technologies into users’ op zrations

¢ Extend the viability of legacy systems.
The following are key elements of our strategy:

Leverage our incumbent position in the government marker. N.ET. was a pioneer of the zoncept of multi-service
networking and has been delivering these mission-critical capabilities for more than twenty years, The installed base
and revenue contribution from our narrowband Promina product line, sold primarily to government entities in recent
years, are declining, but Promina continues to generate the majority of our revenue today. We intend to leverage our
installed customer base, particularly the government, for future sales of our new broadband and IP telephony
platforms, enabling the transition to IP while supporting legacy traffic and applications.

Design and develop industry leading voice and data telecommunications equipment. We consider technological and
preduct leadership to be critical to our future success. We have broad experience with mixed-service and multi-
protocol networks, enabling us to develop solutions for a wide range of applications. We have exiensively refined
the features and technologies of our more mature products over their long product lifetimes. We strive to leverage
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this technological background to develop new products und additional functionality for existing products to meet our
customers’ escalating requirements, specifically for IP conversion and secure voice applications.

Leverage relationships with key partiners. In addition to direct sales to enterprise customers, we continuaily seek to
establish relationships with resellers, distributors, original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), and other vendors, We
enter agreements with technology suppliers 1o supplement our internal development efforts. We also seek
relationships with systems integrators, software solutions providers, and large incumbent vendors globally that can
facilitate our entry and success in global enterprise networks and major government projects.

Align with Microsoft-driven unified communications strategy. Microsoft has been a customer of N.E.T. s for several
years. This relationship has enabled us to align our product development and resources 1o support Microsoft’s
unified communications stralegy and., as a result. we are well positioned to partner with other Microsoft solution
providers. Through strategic alliances with these well-respected systems intlegrators and resellers, we are
establishing channels for N.E.T.’s products into the enterprise market.

Provide value-added service and svstem integration capabilities. Since our inception. we have viewed customer
service and support as a key element of our overall sirategy and a critical component for our long-term relationship
with customers. Customers around the world turn 1o us not only for the reliability and performance of our products
but also for our comprehensive support services that optimize the value of those products. Additionally, by offering
an upgrade path to new products in licu of costly “time and materials™ options for long-discontinued products, we
are able to reintroduce ourselves 1o customers who recognize our tradition for building high performance. reliable
and well-supported products.

Products
Promina — Narrowband Multiservice Access

Our Promina family of multi-service access platforms integrates voice, data, image and video iraffic across a single
network infrastructure. The Promina platform. tailored to circuit-switched networks. provides mission-critical
support for a wide varicty of communications applications and traffic types. including ATM. frame relay. IP. and
ISDN signaling. Promina products offer a broad range of user-side interfaces, cnabling standards-based connection
of communications equipment, whether located at u service provider’s switching tacility or at an enterprise or
ZOVETNMENT CUSIOMET' S premises.

The Promina platform feares advanced network management services, which provide a high degree of visibility
into network operations. For fault tolerance and high network reliability. our Promina products can be configured
with redundant power, common logic, and trunk interfaces. These products incorporate distributed network
intelligence that allows the neiwork to quickly and auwtomatically reroute tratfic in the event of failure of a
component.

The Promina product family includes a runge of systems for various node sizes, with various processor, application,
and interface modules. We offer a broadbund aggregation for Promina customers with the Promina Broadband Shelf,
providing government customers with a broad range of ATM and [P technology. Our Promina networks are
monitored and controlled by netMS, an integrated network management solution. [n addition, we also market an {P
trunk interface for Promina, enabling direct 1P connections to the Promina platform. In fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2003,
our Promina products. including the Promina Broadband Shell, accounted for 76.0%, 86.8%. and 90.4% of product
revenue, respectively,

VX Series — Voice Exchange

The VX Series voice exchange platform enables integrated, secure VolP communications with enhanced mobility
and advanced voice compression technology. The next evolution of our SHOUT product ling, the VX Series is a
fully-integrated multi-service voice switch, which can be deployed in distributed networks (o reduce and consolidate
PBX infrastructure. The VX Series extends advanced call system features from centralized data centers to remote
locations. With its remote survivability features. the VX Series provides continuous, local call service and intelligent
trunk routing in the event of network connectivity failures. It can also be integrated into existing mission critical
networks or deployed as the primary solution in green field applications.

The VX Series supports a variety of voice capabilities for government and enterprise customers. The system’s
advanced protocol transkition. along with industry stundard interfaces, provides exceptional compatibility or
interoperability with existing vendors and networks.

To address needs of the U.S. Federal Government, the VX Series provides an 1P-based secure voice solution with

high bandwidth efficiency and call performance. A high bandwidth utilization rate is particularly important in
expensive. limited bandwidth situations such as satellite links. The VX Series also enables the use of secure

5




telephone unit (STU) phones on IP networks. N.E.T.'s VX switches provide end-to-end, tactical-to-fixed site
connectivity. Key features that enable high-quality secure voice calls include data compress:on, forward error
correction, echo cancellation and jitter correction - all critical factors when operating in tactical, high-latency or
unpredictable network environments. For tactical deployment, the VX Series is available in form factors small
enough to fit into a backpack.

The VX Series design is closely aligned with Microsoft’s UC strategy. The VX Series enables unified
communications on legacy PBXs and provides support for unified messaging. Leveraging o'1r VoIP deployment at
Microsoft and integration with other Microsoft products, N.E.T. is providing new applications for this platform,
including robust remote survivability features and fixed mobile convergence (FMC) utilizin;; voice over WiFi
(VoWiFi).

Our VX Series consists of the VX2500, VX900, VX900T, VX400, and the VX1200, which was under development
at March 30, 2007. The VX2500 platform supports one to 32 T1/E1 connections or up to 96 simultaneous voice
calls, all in a five-inch high chassis that can be easily configured for a variety of services. This platform reduces
space requirements by eliminating multiple stand-alone devices and complex integration efforts. The smaller VX300
supports one to eight TI/ET connections or 240 simultaneous voice calls, with support for $TU phones. The VX900
chassis is one rack unit (1RU) high and the ruggedized VX900T is approximately half the size. The VX400 is the
first deployment of our VX Series on DTECH LABS’ second generation mobile VolP hardware platform. Targeted
at the tactical government, military and first-responder markets, the VX400 offers the functionality already available
in our VX900, but is designed 1o support 1-4 tactical secure call users, plus data, over an IP-based satellite network
infrastructure. The VX1200, which began shipping in the first quarter ol 2008, contains feat ires at a cost point
intended to satisfy the requirements of the enterprise UC market.

In fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, our VX Series and predecessor products accounted for 20.0%0, 8.0%, and 3.8% of
product revenue, respectively,

NX Series — Network Exchange

The NX Series network exchange products are high-performance networking platforms that provide high-grade data
transfer between SANs and WANSs and secure grid computing.

The NX3000 Series, our high speed network exchange platform:

Responding to increasing demand for secure, high speed, multi-service networking and LAMN/SAN virtualization,
N.E.T. partnered with Bay MicroSystems to develop an agile, high-speed exchange platform. This new platform, the
NX5000 Series, has speeds of 10Gbps and is scaleable up to 160Gbps. The first product in cur NX5000 Series, the
NX5010 platform, is a next-generation, high speed multi-service aggregation and switching platform for mission-
critical communications. This platform enables customers with geographically distributed computing and storage
resources to connect as if they were co-located within the same LAN or data center and makes it possible to collapse
into a single integrated system the multiple switches currently required to perform SAN to ¥WWAN communications.
The NX5010 significantly improves our customers’ ability to transfer large amounts of data throughout disparate
networks on a single switch. Initially targeted at government and financial customers, the N.X5010 also addresses
our customers” increasing need for secure, high speed, versatile networking. It is scalable and compact, with a very
small foot print enly two rack units (2RU) high. The NX5010 has been tested in field trials that utilized InfiniBand,
IP, Ethernet, ATM, and multiprotocol label switching (MPLS) protocols.

In fiscal 2007, the first year the NX Series products were made commercially available, sales accounted for less than
10% of total revenue.

The NX1000 Series, our IP-Enable Multi-Service Platform:

The recently released NX 1000, an extension of our Promina product line, provides a flexible:, cost-effective Internet
Protocot (IP) ageregation solution that facilitates migration of legacy traffic to IP, It is fully interoperable with the
existing Promina product line, delivering an all-new architecture and built-in capability to converge legacy
applications onto an [P-based network while also providing four times the bandwidth of similarly sized Promina
models. The NX1000 adds multi-service aggregation capabilities to the NX Series” product line-up and is housed in
a rugged, compact and lightweight chassis and fits well into tactical and first-responder applications as well as
supporting applications for high speed serial or legacy migration to 1P, IP-based satellite transport, and tactical to
fixed-site connectivity. The NX 1000 also offers higher speed data interfaces, diskless data s:orage, and an optional
rubidium atomic clock module to provide a high level of accuracy and synchronization for tit synchronous
applications over IP.




Customers and Markets

N.E.T. operates in one segment: the design. development. manufacture and sale of networking technology platforms
used for mission-critical communications solutions and associated services used by government organizations,
enterprises. and carriers worldwide. N.E.T. pionecred multi-service networking and has been delivering this
capability for over 20 years. Qur focus is on tnformation and communication-intensive organizations and these
customers may be local, national, or global in their operations. We identity our markets as two primary groups:
government and enterprises. Government customers include but are not limited to U.S. defense and intelligence
agencies, civiliun agencies such as the Federal Aviation Administration and the Federal Emergency Management
Agency. and international organizations such as NATO and foreign defense ministrics. as well as resellers to such
entitics. We arget enterprise customers in a variety of sectors such as financial services, manufacturing,
wransportation, and retail. In recent fiscal years, commercial sales of our Promina-based solutions have mostly been
in emerging markets, such as Eastern Europe. China, and Latin America.

Sales to the government sector represented 91.1%, 86.1%, and 86.6% of N.E.T."s revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006, and
2003, respectively. NLE.T. does business with the government both as a direct contractor and as & subcontractor. A
substantial portion of the revenue generated from our government customers is based on our contract with the
General Services Administration (GSAY}, as well as through direct contracts such as with the Department of Delense
(DoD) and NATO. Some of these contracts may also be used by other government agencies. N.ET.'s current GSA
contract has been extended through June 27. 2007 while it is up for renewal for a multi-year period, pending
agreement on new pricing and other terms.

In fiscal 2007, EDO Corporation and General Diynamics (both government systems integrators) accounted for 21.6%
and 13.2% of our revenue, respectively. In fiscal 2006, NATO accounted for 10.7% of our revenue, and in fiscal
2005, NATO and General Dynamics accounted for 13.5% and 11.0%. respectively, of our revenue. Excluding
aggregate orders from a varicty of government agencics, no other single customer accounted for more than ten
percent of NLET.'s revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006, or 2005.

Our commercial revenue from international customers accounted for 6.8%, 9.3%. and 8.5% of wtal revenue for
liscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Going forwurd. we belicve our revenue growth in the enterprise
markets will largely be driven by the acceptance of Microsoft’s UC initiative. As an incumbent supplier into
Microsoft’s internal voice network, we ure working closely with Microsoft and its key partners as they introduce
new enlerprisc-focused unificd communications and unified messaging products. of which our VX platform is a key
enabler. To date. this revenue has not been significant, as we are currently in the process of initial product trials.

Competition

The market for telecommunicutions equipment is highly competitive und dynamic. has been characterized by rapid
changes to and the convergence of technologies, and has seen a worldwide migration {rom existing circuit
technology to packet-based IP technologies. We compete directly. both internationally and domestically, with many
different companies. some of which are large established suppliers of end-to-end solutions such as Alcatel-Lucent,
Avaya, Cisco Systems, Juniper Networks, Nortel Networks, and Siemens AG. In addition 1o some of these lurge
suppliers, a number of other smaller companies are targeting the same markets as we do. Particularly, in the unified
communications market, Audiocodes Limited and Dialogic Corporation provide competitive solutions and are also
purtners with Microsott. We believe our long operating history and strong balance sheet give us some of the
advantages of furger businesses, while our small size and relatively narrow focus give us some of the advantages of
smaller companies. Our larger competitors. however, have greater financial, marketing and technical resources than
we do and ofter a wider range of networking producis than we offer and can often provide customers a complete
ncetwork solution. They ofien can compete favorably on price because their sales volume and broad product lines can
aliow them to make discounted sales while maintaining acceptable overall profit margins. Conversely. our smaller
competilors may have more ability than we do to focus their resources on a particular product development
unencumbered by the requirements to support an existing product line. allowing greater flexibility in their market
strategies.

Sales

We sell our products and services through both direct and indirect sales channels worldwide, including large
government systems inlegrators, We support the sales force effort with syslems engineers who provide customers
with pre-sale and post-sale technical assistance which allows N.E.T. to gain more in-depth knowledge of customers’
network requirements. Our business is generally not scasonal, though we have been affected by delays in adoption
ol government entity budgets and spending patterns of the Federal Government at its September fiscal year end.




our narrowband Promina multiservice access platform to broadband services. In fiscal 2007, we were granted four
U.S. patents, and now held a total of 39 U.S. patents. These patents will expire between 1December 2007 and
November 2025. We expect to continue filing patent applications and enter into license agreements as our
development process for newer products moves forward. We have not historically pursued claims against other
companies based on possible infringements of our patent portfolio, but we believe that onr investment in intellectual
property protection can offer defenses to claims against us and may provide an additional source of future revenue.

For each of our product lines, we license some of our technology from third parties. Sonce of these licenses contain
limitations on distribution of the licensed technology, are limited in duration, or provide for expiration upon certain
events such as a change in control of the company. Qur NX5010 product was developed in partnership with Bay
Microsystems (“Bay™) and includes key components manufactured under license from Bay, for which we paid a
license acquisition fee of $3 million and also pay a royalty on units sold, For foliow-on plaiforms to the NX35010, we
may again engage Bay, which would require payment of an additional license acquisition fee and a royalty on units
sold,

Where You Can Find More Information

We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to such reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Ac, available free of charge on
or through our Internet website located at www.net.com., as soon as reasonably practica” after they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC. Stockholders may also access and download frze of charge our co:porate governance
documents, including our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Audit Committee, Compersation Commitice and
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee Charters, and Code of Business Conduct, on or through this Internet
website. [n addition, any stockholder who wishes to obtain a printed copy of any of thes: documents should write to:
Investor Relations, N.E.T.. 6900 Paseo Padre Parkway, Fremont, California 94555.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to the risks and uncertainties described below. Although we have: tried to identify the
material risks Lo our business, this is not an all-inclusive list. There may be additional risks that have not yet been
identified and risks that are not matertal now but could become material. Any one of these risks could hurt our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

We have incurred net losses in the past and may continue to incur losses in the future.

For each of the last several fiscal ycars, we have incurred net losses. Although we have reduced operating cxpenses
over the past several years, we will need revenue to grow in order to achieve profitability. Our circuit-switched
product line, Promina, currently provides the majority of our revenue, but revenue from that product line has
declined in recent years. Our newer [P-based products have not yet achieved market acceptance or broad
commercial sales, and we are incurring substantial product development and marketing expenses for those and other
product lines. Accordingly, we will not likely be profitable unless our newer product lires achieve commercial
success that outpaces the anticipated decline of our Promina product line. In addition, we must contain our operating
expenses, many of which are fixed in the short term making it difficult to reduce expences rapidly in response to
shortfalls in revenue,

Our operating results may continue to fluctuate.
Our operating results vary significantly from quarter to quarter. These fluctuations may result from a number of
factors, including:

¢ changes in demand for our products, particularly our narrowband Promina product line, which has declined

significantly in the last two fiscal years;

¢ the timing of orders from, and shipments to, our customers;

¢ the timing of the introduction of, and market acceptance for, new products and services;

* variations in the mix of products and services we sell;

¢ the timing and level of certain expenses, such as joint venture and development (rrangements, marketing
activities, prototype costs, write-offs of obsolete inventory, or adjustments to accounting estimates made in
previous periods;

¢ the timing of revenue recognition, which depends on numerous factors, such as contractual acceptance
provisions and separability of arrangements involving multiple elements, includ:ng some factors that are out
of our control, such as assurance as to collectibility;

¢ the timing and amounts of stock-based awards to employees;
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Customers and Markets

N.E.T. operates in onc segment: the design., development. manufacture and sale of networking technology platforms
used for mission-critical communications solutions and associated services used by government organizations,
enterprises, and carriers worldwide. N.E.T. pioncered multi-service networking and hus been delivering this
capability for over 20 yeurs. Our focus is on information and communication-intensive organizations and these
customers may be local. national, or global in their operations. We identily our markets as two primary groups:
government and enterprises. Government customers include but are not limited to U.S. defense and intelligence
agencies, civilian agencies such as the Federal Aviation Administration and the Federal Emergency Management
Agency, and international organizations such as NATO and foreign defense ministries, as well as resellers wo such
entitics. We target enlerprisc customers in a variety of sectors such as financial services, manwvfacturing,
trunsportation, and relail. In recent fiscal years. commercial sales of our Promina-based solutions have mostly been
in emerging markets, such as Eastern Europe, China, and Latin America,

Sales 10 the government sector represented 91.1%, 86.1%,. and 86.6% of N.E.T."s revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively. N.E.T. does business with the government both as a direct contractor and as a subcontractor. A
substantial portion of the revenue generated from our governmeni customers is bused on our contract with the
General Services Administration (GSA), as well as through direct contracts such as with the Department of Defense
{DoD}) and NATO. Some of these contracts may also be used by other government agencies. N.E.T.'s current GSA
contract has been extended through June 27, 2007 while it is up for renewal for a multi-year period, pending
agreement on new pricing and other terms.

In fiscal 2007, EDO Corporation and General Dynamics (both government systems integrators} accounted for 21.6%
and 13.2% of our revenue, respectively. In fiscal 2006, NATO accounted for 10.7% of our revenue, and in fiscal
2005. NATO and General Dynamics accounted for 13.5% and 11.0%. respectively, of our revenue. Excluding
aggregate orders from a variety of government agencies, no other single customer accounted for more than ten
percent of N.E.T.’s revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006. or 2005.

Qur commercial revenue from international customers accounted for 6.8%. 9.3%. and 8.5% of total revenue for
fiscal years 2007. 2006. und 2005, respectively. Going lorward, we believe our revenue growth in the enterprise
markets will largely be driven by the acceptance of Microsoft's UC initiative. As an incumbent supplier into
Microsoft’s internal voice network, we are working closely with Microsoft and its Key partners as they introduce
new enterprise-focused unified communications und unified messaging products. of which cur VX platform is a key
enabler. To date, this revenue has not been significant, as we are currently in the process of initial product trials,

Competition

The market for telecommunications equipment is highly competitive and dynamic, hus been characterized by rapid
changes to and the convergence of technologies, and has seen a worldwide migration from existing circuit
technology to packet-based 1P technologies. We compete directly, both internationally and domestically. with many
different companies. some of which are large established suppliers of end-to-end solutions such as Alcatel-Lucent,
Avaya. Cisco Systems. Juniper Networks, Nortel Networks, and Siemens AG. In addition to some of these large
suppliers, a number of other smaller companies ure targeting the same markets as we do. Particularly, in the unified
communications market. Audiocodes Limited and Dialogic Corporation provide competitive solutions and are also
partners with Microsoft. We believe our long operating history and strong balance sheet give us some of the
advantages of larger businesses. while our small size and relatively narrow focus give us some of the advantages of
smaller companies. Our larger competitors, however, have greater financial. marketing and technical resources than
we do and offer a wider range of networking products than we offer and can often provide customers a complete
network solution. They often can compete favorably on price because their sales volume and broad product lines can
allow them to make discounted sales while maintaining acceptable overall profit margins. Conversely. our smaller
competitors may have more ability than we do to focus their resources on a particulur product development
unencumbered by the requirements to support an existing product line. allowing greater flexibility in their market
strategies.

Sales

We scll our products and services through both dircet und indirect sales channels worldwide, including large
government systems integrators. We suppont the sales foree effort with systems engineers who provide customers
with pre-sale and post-sale technical assistance which allows N.E.T. to gain more in-depth knowledge of customers’
network requirements. Qur business is generally not seasonal. though we have been affected by delays in adoption
of government entity budgets and spending patterns ol the Federal Government at its September fiscal year end.




We intend to make greater use of distributors and integrators in some markets, especially for th2 VX Series product
line. Our international sales are made almost entirely through indirect channels that are augmented by the efforts of a
local sales force. In addition to the marketing and sale of products, international resetlers provide system installation
and technical support. In most cases, international resellers have non-exclusive agreements to resell N.E.T. products
within particular geographic areas. Resale agreements do not contain a sales commitment or resjuired sales quota.

We sell to the U.S. Federal Government primarily through N.E.T.’s wholly owned subsidiary, IN.E.T. Federal, Inc.
{N.E.T. Federal). which sells products directly, through systems integrators, through collaborat.ve government
contracting, and by contracting agencies at their convenience or at annual intervals. N.E.T. Fedzral supports sales to
the Federal Government's defense, intelligence, and civilian sectors and o international governmeni organizations.

Our selling model makes use of our field sales, engineering, product management, and executive personnel to
establish and maintain customer contacts at multiple levels within a customer organization. We believe the
successful execution of this multi-tiered selling model is important to our success.

Backlog

We manufacture our products based upon our forecast of customer demand and we typically build preducts in
advance of receiving firm orders from our customers, Orders for N.E.T.’s products are generally placed by
customers on an as-needed basis and we typically have been able to ship these products within 30-90 days after the
customer submits a firm purchase order. As a U.S.-based company, we are required to give priority to Federal
Government rated “defense-expedite” (DX) orders, which may cause the backlog of other customers’ orders to
become delinquent. Because of the possibility of customer changes in delivery schedules or cancellation of orders,
N.E.T.’s backlog as of any particular date may not be indicative of sales in any future period.

Customer Service

The markets, customers and complex challenges of the networking industry described above require support, service
and other assistance in the development, operation and expansion of a customer network, We provide a wide range
of global service and support options to customers and resellers of N.E.T. products. Service oflerings include
product installation and other professional services, a choice of different hardware and softwar:: maintenance
programs designed to meel the varying needs of our customers. parts repair, remote and on-site technical assistance,
and customer training. In addition, N.E.T. provides web-based customer support services through our Electronic
Support Center. Services available over the web include first-line troubleshooting information {or N.E.T. products:
technical information, such as trouble shooting guides and frequently asked questions; and a wzb-based interface to
N.E.T."s Technical Assistance Center (TAC) through an online case managzment system.

TAC, which is staffed by enginecrs trained in networking products, is set up to assist customers remotely over the
telephone. TAC engineers have the ability to replicate customer problems und test proposed solutions prior to
implementation. Maintenance support from TAC, whether provided over the web or over the telephone, is fee-based
under either an annual fee contract or on a time-and-materials basis.

Through a contractual arrangement with CACI International inc. (CACI), CACH has certain rights to provide
maintenance and other services to our Federal customers. Beginning in the fourth guarter of 2C07, our relationship
with CACI was revised and expanded. Under the new arrangement, both cempanies will sell services for N.E.T.
products, and each company will be responsible for various aspects of service delivery. Revenne from maintenance
and training services will be shared between both companies, with the percentage to be determined based upon
revenue levels. Qur products are also serviced and supported by authorized entities around the globe.

Customer training on N.E.T. products is provided to both end-users and resellers worldwide, V/e provide training
both at N.E.T. facilitics and at customer and reseller sites. Qur training services can be custom zed 10 meet the
special requirements of our customers. Customers are charged per person per class for N.E.T. iraining. We also offer
a portfolio of computer-based training sessions for our products, which are licensed on an individual or site basis.

In fiscal 2007. 2006, and 2005, service and support revenue accounted for 13.4%, 18.7%, and 15.3%, respectively,
of N.E.T. s revenue.

Manufacturing

Since the second half of fiscal 2006, we have outsourced all product manufacturing, including assembly and
structural test. Previously, we performed the functional test, systems integration, and order fuliillment functions in-
house at our Fremont, California facility. We maintain a level of control over parts procurement, design,
documentation and selection of approved suppliers. We remain liable for any termination or cancellation of orders.
discontinuance of product, or excess material created by an engineering change. We have not incurred significant
charges as a result of these factors,




Several key components of our products are available onty from a single source, including certain integrated circuits
and power supplies. Depending upon the component, there may or may not be alternative sources or substitutes.
Some of these components are purchused through purchase orders without an underlying long-term supply contract.
Any delay or difficulty in obtuining needed components could seriously impact our ability to ship products.

We attempt to maintain sufficient inventory to ship products quickly. normally within 30 1o 90 days after receipt of
an order. Scheduling of production and inventory supply is based on internal sales forecasts. Generally. our
cuslomer conltracts allow the customers o reschedule delivery dates or cancel orders within cerlain time frames
before shipment without penalty and outside those time frames with a penalty. Because of these and other faciors.
there are risks that excess or inadequate inventory levels could occur.

The majority of the manufacturing is currently performed by a contract-manufacturing vendor that is privately
funded and has a hmited history of operations. We are currenty transitioning the manufacturing to a
more-established vendor. Final assembly of our products will be done in the new vendor’s Boise, [daho Macility, and
we intend to utilize the vendor’s rapid prototyping facility in Fremont, California.

We are focused on continually enhancing the quality of products and services delivered 1o customers worldwide.
This includes improving the quality of supplied components, subassemblies and internal processes. As part of this
continuing process. N.E.T. is 150 9001:2002 certified.

Research and Development

We believe that our long-term success depends on our ability to maintain product and technology leadership. The
networking equipment industry is characterized by rapid technological change. evolving industry standards. frequent
new product introductions, enhancements to products currently in the market and constantly changing cusiomer
requirements. To compete effectively, N.E.T. must be able to bring new products (o market in a timely and cost-
etfective manner and provide existing customers an attractive migration path to our newer products. Along with
making continued investments in our internal research and development, we also enler into development agrecnients
with other technology suppliers and may make stralegic acquisitions 1o obtain needed technology and resources.

We continually monitor relevant markets and our customers” businesses and technology developments in order
develop products that proactively address customer needs. The majority of our research and development activity is
focused on pucket-based technologics, particularly VolIP and high-speed networking. While most product
development activity is undertaken by N.E.T. employees, we enter into license and technology agreements (o
accelerate development ol new products or expand the scope of development efforts, as well as outsource some of
our product development activities,

In fiscal 2007, 2006. und 2005. N.E.T."s research and development expenditures were $21.4 million, $23.2 million,
and $26.1 million. respectively.

Employees

As of March 30, 2007. we had 238 full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union.
We consider our employee relutions to be good.

Geographic Information
See Note 14 1o our consolidated financial statements.
Intellectual Property

We believe that the development of our intellectual property portfolio is central to our success and ability to
compete effectively. We devote considerable resources to invent and develop new technologies and then to protect
these technologies from unauthorized use. We have a program to seek protection of our proprietary technology
under various protection frameworks such as patent, trade secret. trademarks and copyright protection. We seek
protection in the United States and in select foreign countries where we believe filing for such protection is
appropriatc. We helieve thit ownership of patents. trade secrets. trademarks and copyrighis is central 10 our ability
to defend ourselves against intellectual property infringement allegations. We also seek to protect our inventions.
trade secrets and other confidential information by non-disclosure policies. All of our emplovees and contractors
sign confidentiality and invention disclosure agreements. Any person outside N.E.T. receiving N.ET. confidential
information either signs a non-disclosure agreement prior to receiving proprietary technology information, is u
licensee of N.E.T.. or is bound by a professional duty of confidentiality.

Over the pust twenly years, a number of patents have been issued o NLE.T. in the United States, Europe and Japan.

These include some very carly basic ATM inventions that conform 1o ATM Forum standards. We have a highly

focused effort 1o identify and patent our proprictury VX Series technology and technology related to the migration of
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our narrowband Promina multiservice access platform to broadband services. In fiscal 2007, we were granted four
U.S. patents, and now hold a total of 39 U.S. patents. These patents will expire between December 2007 and
November 2025. We expect to continue filing patent applications and enter into license agreem:nts as our
development process for newer products moves forward. We have not historically pursued claims against other
companies based on possible infringements of our patent portfolio, but we believe that our investment in intellectual
property protection can offer defenses to claims against us and may provide an additional source of future revenue.

For each of our product lines. we license some of our technology from third parties. Some of these licenses contain
limitations on distribution of the licensed technelogy, are limited in duratior., or provide for expiration upon certain
events such as a change in control of the company. Qur NX5010 product was developed in partnership with Bay
Microsystems (“Bay”) and includes key components manufactured under license from Bay, for which we paid a
license acquisition fee of $3 million and also pay a royalty on units sold. For follow-on platforms to the NX5010, we
may again engage Bay, which would require payment of an additional license acquisition fec aud a royalty on units
sold.

Where You Can Find More Information

We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to such reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Exchange Act, availuble free of charge on
or through our Internet website located at www.net.com., as soon as reasenably practical after they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC. Stockholders may also access and download free of charge our corporate governance
documents, including our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee Charters, and Code of Business Conduct, on or through this Internet
website. In addition, any stockholder who wishes (o obtain a printed copy of any of these docuraents should write to:
Investor Relations, N.E.T., 6900 Paseo Padre Parkway, Fremont, California 94555,

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Qur business is subject to the risks and uncertainties described below. Although we have tried to identify the
material risks to our business, this is not an all-inclusive list. There may be additional risks that have not yet been
identified and risks that are not material now but could become material. Any one of these risks could hurt our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

We have incurred net losses in the past and may continue to incur losses in the future,

For each of the last several fiscal years, we have incurred net losses. Although we have reducec operating expenses
over the past several years, we will need revenue to grow in order 1o achieve profitability. Our circuit-switched
product line, Promina, currently provides the majority of our revenue, but revenue from that product line has
declined in recent years. Qur newer IP-based products have not yet achieved market acceptance or broad
commercial sales, and we are incurring substantial product development and marketing expenses for those and other
product lines. Accerdingly, we will not likely be profitable unless our newer product lines achieve commercial
success that outpaces the anticipated decline of our Promina product line. In addition, we must -ontain our operating
expenses, many of which are fixed in the short term making it difficult 1o reduce expenses rapidly in response to
shortfalls in revenue,

Our operating results may continue to fluctuate.
Our operating results vary significantly from quarter to quarter. These fluctuations may result f-om a number of
factors, including:

* changes in demand for our products, particularly our narrowband Promina product line, ‘which has declined

significantly in the last two fiscal years;

¢ the tliming of orders from, and shipments to, our customers;

® the timing of the introduction of, and market acceptance for, new products and services;

¢ variations in the mix of products and services we sell;

¢ the timing and level of certain expenses, such as joint venture and development arrangerients, marketing
activities, prototype costs, write-offs of obsolete inventory, or adjustinents (o accounting estimates made in
previous periods;

e the timing of revenue recognition, which depends on numerous factors, such as contractual acceptance
provisions and separability of arrangements involving multiple elements, including some: factors that are out
of our control, such as assurance as to collectibility;

¢ the timing and amounts of stock-based awards to employees;
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e the timing und size of Federal Government budget approvals and spending. and timing of government
deployment schedules; and

¢ cconomic conditions in the networking industry, including the overall capital expenditures of our customers,

We recorded restructure costs of $10.1 miltion in fiscal 2007 related to vacating our former manufacturing facility.
In determining this charge, we made various assumptions regarding our ability to sublease this facility. the amount
of sublease income. and expense reimbursement. [n the event we are not able to sublease this property. or amounts
received from a subtenant are below our estimated amounts, we will incur additional restructure costs, which would
adversely affect our results of operations.

Due to the foregoing factors, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not
necessurily a good indication of our future performance. Any shortfull in revenue may adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition. Investors should not rely on our results or growth for one quarter as
any indication of our future performance.

Our stock price is volatile and could decline substantially.
The market price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly in the past, will likely continue to fluctuale in the
future and may decline. Fluctuations or a decline in our stock price may oceur regardless of our performance.
Among the factors that could affect our stock price, in addition to our performance, are:
» variations between our operating results and either the guidance we have furnished to the public or the
published expectations of securities analysts:
* changes in financial estimates or investment recommendations by securities analysts following our business:

* announcements by us or our competitors of significunt contracts, new products or services. acquisitions, or
other significant transactions;

* salc of our common stock or other sccurities in the future;

¢ the inclusion or exclusion of our stock in various indices or investment categories, especially as compared to
the investment profiles of our stockholders at a given time;

* changes in the stock prices of other telecommunications equipment companies, 1o the extent that some
investors tend to buy or sell our stock based on segment trends;

¢ the trading volume of our common stock; and

* repurchases we make of our common stock,

We are dependent on revenue from the Promina product line.

Currently, we derive the mujority of our product revenue from our Promina product line, a circuit-based narrowband
lechnology. The market for our Promina product is declining as networks increasingly employ packet-based
broadband technology. This technology migration resulted in a significant drop in sales of our Promina products
over the last several years. 1f we are unable 1o develop substantial revenue {rom our newer packet-based broadband
product lines, our business and results of operations will suffer. Although we have developed a migration path to
broadband technology and have entered and expect to enter into development agreements with third parties to
cxpand our broadband offerings, this strategy may not materially mitigate this decline.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from sales to governmental agencies.

A significant portion of our total revenue from product sales comes from contracts with governmental agencies,
most of which do not include long-term purchase commitments, Historically. the government has been slower to
adopt new technology, such as pucket-based technology. which has had the effect of extending the product life of
our Promina product. While the government has purchased and is evaluating some of our new products for broader
deployment, this new business may not develop guickly or be sufficient to offset future declines in sales of our
Promina product. Furthermore, if the government accelerated adoption of new technology. and replaced the Promina
product line in their networks with products other than ours, our product revenue would decline further. We
anticipate that our past experience will result in future contracts with the government; however, we face significant
competition in this endeavor. If we fail in developing new products and successfully selling them to our government
customers, our revenue may not increase 1o profitable levels. The Federal Government has issued specific
requirements for 1P networking products to incorporate a lechnology referred 1o as “IPv6™ and requires products
destined for use in military applications be certified by the Joint Interoperability Test Command (JITC). If we are
unable 1o compieie development etforts necessary to support IPv6 within the timeframes required by the Federal
Government or are unable 1o obtain JITC certifications as needed, our government sales, and hence our revenue and
results of operation, may suffer.




A substantial portion of the revenue generated from our government customers is based on our contract with the
GSA, which is presently up for renewal. In connection with the renewal, we must agree 10 new pricing and the
government has requested additional contractual provisions, increasing the risk that we might be unable to renew our
GSA contract on acceptable terms, if at all. If the GSA contract is renewed by the government, we expect some of
the discounts provided to the governmeni to be higher than those in the current contract. If the GSA contract is not
renewed, many of our government sales will be more difficult and our revenue and results of operations may suffer.
As part of the renewal process for our contract with the GSA, the government perfermec a limited post-award
review of sales activity in the period 2001 to 2005. The review identified & number of possible discrepancies
regarding our compliance with the GSA contract and resulted in the Company making a payment 1o the government
of $795,000, as well as implementing changes to its compliance practices. Any compliance discrepancies subsequent
to the review period would result in additional liability to the GSA.

Through an agreement resulting from the sale of our Federal Services Business to CACI, CACI and the Company
share responsibility for maintenance and other services to our Federal Government customers, If for any reason our
mutual customers are unsatisfied with the services, it could adversely affect sales of our products and services.

Our success depends on our ability to develop new products and product enhancements that will achieve market
acceptance.

Our operating results will depend on the successful design, development, testing, introd:iction, marketing, and broad
commercial distribution of our newer IP-based products, as well as successful evolution of our Promina product line
incorporating packet-based technology. The success of these products is dependent on szveral factors, including
proper product definition, competitive pricing, timely completion and introduction to th: market, differentiation
from competitors’ products, and broad market acceptance. The markets for our products are characterized by rapidly
changing technology, evolving industry standards, frequent new product introductions and evolving methods of
building and operating networks. We may not successfully identify new product opportunities, develop and bring
new products to market in a timely manner, or achieve market acceptance of our products. Products and
technologies developed by others may render our products or technologies obsolete or ron-competitive, which in
turn could adversely affect our ability 10 achieve profitability.

Gross margins could decline over future periods.

Gross margins may be adversely affected in the future due to increases in material and labor costs, increases in
subcontractor charges, changes in the mix of products and services we sell, increased s¢les through resetlers,
increased warranty costs, or pressure on pricing and margins due to compelition. As we introduce new products, our
overall gross margins may decline, as new products typically have lower gross margins than established products, as
a result of customary discounting for early customers and higher per-unit costs associat:d with tow purchase
volumes of compenents. A decline in our gross margins could have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, and financial condition.

Regulations and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, affect our ability to sell into international
markets.

We conduct sales and customer support operations in countries outside of the United States and depend on non-US
operations of our subsidiaries and distribution partners. As a general rule, international sales tend to have risks that
are difficult to foresee and plan for, including political and cconomic stability, regulatory changes, currency
exchange rates, changes in tax rates and structures, and collection of accounts receivab’e. Further, our international
markets are served primarily by non-exclusive resellers who themselves may be severely affected by economic or
markel changes within a particular country or region. For sales within the European Urion, our products must
comply with the Restriction on Hazardous Substances Directive (RoHS) and Waste from Electrical and Electronic
Equipment (WEEE) requirements, any failure of which could result in fines, product seizures, or injunctions against
sale. Some of our products include features that make them subjecl. to U.S. export restrictions.

The market for our products is highly competitive and many of our competitors have greater resources than we
do.

The market for networking equipment is highly competitive and dynamic, has been characterized by rapid
technological changes and shifting customer requirements, and has seen a worldwide migration from existing circuit
technology to the new packet-based technologies. We compete directly, both internatic nally and domestically, with
many different companies, some of which are large, established suppliers of end-to-end solutions, such as Alcatel-
Lucent, Avaya, Cisco Systems, Juniper Networks, Nortel Networks and Siemens AG. {n addition to some of these
large suppliers, a number of other smaller companies are targeting the same markets as we are. Particularly, in the
unified communications market, Audiocodes Limited and Dialogic Corporation provice competitive solutions and
are also partners with Microsoft.




Our larger competitors have significantly greater financial. marketing and technical resources than we have and
olfer a wider range of networking products than we offer and can often provide a complete network solution. They
are often able to devote greater resources to the development. marketing and sale of their products and to use their
equity or significant cash reserves to acquire other companies with technology and/or products that compete directly
with ours. They often cun compete favorably on price because their sales volume and broad product lines can allow
them to make discounted sales while maintaining acceptable overall profit margins. The smaller companies have
maore ability than we do to focus their resources on a particular product development unencumbered by the
requirements 1o support an existing product line. As a result of the flexibility of their market strategies, our
competitors may be able to obtain strategic advantages that may adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

In addition, the networking equipment market has seen the constant introduction of new technologics that has
reduced the value of older technology solutions. This has created pricing pressure on older products while increasing
the performance expectations of newer networking equipment. Moreover, broadband technology standards are
constantly evolving and allernative technologies or technologies with greater capability are constantly introduced
and sought by our customers. [t is possible that the introduction of other technologies will either supplant our current
technolegies and technologies we have in development, or will require us to significantly lower our prices in order
to remain competitive. To remain competitive, we must continue to evolve our product lines to meet the ever-
changing technology needs of the networking market while ensuring that they can be sold at a competitive price. We
also must enhance our Promina product line to provide needed features that increase its overall value for the
customer while keeping the price competitive. Due (o the competitive nature of the market and the relative age of
our Promina product offerings as well as the compeltitive pressure affecting all our products, we may not be able o
maintain prices for them at levels that will sustain profitability. Also, we may not be successful in completing the
development of, or commercializing, products under development.

If we are unable to sign competitive resale partners, our future product and service revenue will be adversely
affected.

Our international sales are made almost entirely through indireet channels that include distributors and resellers
worldwide. and our business strategy includes leveraging resale partners in the United States. In addition, many of
our target customers, including the government, rely on systems integrators to incorporate new equipment or
services into their networks, While we have begun the process of identifying and signing software application,
system integrator and OEM or resale partners, more partners are necessary in these areas for us to be successful. We
may also need to pursue strategic partnerships with vendors who have broader technology or product offerings in
order o compele with the end-to-end solution providers. Failure to sign up new reseller and strategic partners could
affect our ability to grow overall revenue,

Our distributors and resellers often also rescll product lines from other companies. including our competitors, some
ol whom have strong market position relative to the Company. Because of existing relationships that many of our
competitors have with distributors and rescllers, it is often difficult for us to find a distributor or reseller who is
willing and contractually able to resell our products. If we cannot develop relationships with distributors and
rescllers that can effectively market and sell our products and services, our future revenue will be adversely affected.

Our products have long sales cycles, making it difficult to predict when a cusiomer will place an order and when
to forecast revenue from the related sale.

Our products are very complex and represent a significant capitat expenditure to our customers. The purchase of our
products can have a significant impact on how a customer designs its network and provides services either within its
own organization or 10 an external customer. Consequently, our customers often engage in extensive testing and
evaluation of products before purchase. There are ulso numeroeus financial and budget considerations and approvals
that the customer often must obtain before it will issue a purchase order. As a result, the length of our sales cycle can
be quite long. extending beyond twelve months in some cases. In addition, our customers. including rescllers. often
have the contractual right to delay scheduled order delivery dates with minimal penalties and to cancel orders within
specified time rames without penalty, which makes it difficult to predict whether or not an order may actually ship.
We often must incur substantial sales and marketing expense 10 ensure a purchase order is placed. If the order is not
placed in the quarter forecasted, our sales may not meet forecast and revenue may be insufficient to meet expenses.

Because it is difficult for us to accurately forecast sales, particularly within a given time frame, we face a risk of
carrying too much or too little inventory.

Typically, the majority of our revenue in each quarter has resulted from orders received and shipped in that quarter.
While we do not belicve that backlog is necessarily indicative of future revenue levels, our customers’ ordering
patierns and the possible absence of backlogged orders create a significant risk that we could carry too much or too
little inventory if orders do not match forecasts. Rather than base forecasts on orders received. we have been forced
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1o schedule production and commit to certain expenses based more upon forecasts of future sales, which are difficult
to predict. If large orders do not close when forecasted or if near-terra demand weakens for the products we have
available to ship, our operating results for that quarter or subsequent quarters would be materially adversely
affected. Furthermore, if there is an unexpected decrease in demand for certain products or there is an increased risk
of inventory obsolescence, which can happen relatively quickiy due to rapidly changing technology and customer
requirements, adjusiments may be required to write down or write off the inventory, which would adversely affect
our operating results.

If we are unable to attract, recruit and retain key personnel, then we may not be able to successfully manage our
business.

Our success continues to be dependent on our being able 10 attract and retain highly skilled engineers, managers and
other key employees. In most cases, we face significant competition for the most qualifi:d personnel for new
positions and 1o replace departing employees. If we are not able 1o continue to attract, recruil and retain key
personnel, particularty in engineering and sales and marketing positions, we may be unable to meet important
company ohjectives such as product delivery deadlines and sales targets.

Our ability to ship our products in a timely manner is dependent on the availability of component parts and other
Sfactors.

Several key components of our products are available only from a single source, includiag certain integrated circuits
and power supplies. Depending upon the component, there may or triay not be alternative sources or substitutes.
Some components are purchased through purchase orders without an underlying long-term supply contract, and
some components are in short supply generally throughout the industry. If a required component were no longer
available, we might have to significantly reengineer the affected product. Further, variability in demand and cyclical
shortages of capacity in the semiconductor industry have caused lead times for ordering parts to increase from time
to time. Delays may occur as a result of factors beyond our control, including weather-rzlated delays. If we
encounter shortages or delays in receiving ordered components or if we are not able to accurately forecast our
ordering requirements, we may be unable (o ship ordered products in a timely manner, resulting in decreased
revenue.

Generally, our customer contracts allow the customers to reschedule delivery dates or cancel orders within certain
time frames before shipment without penalty and outside those time frames with a penalty. Because of these and
other factors, there are risks of excess or inadequate inventory that could negatively affi:ct our expenses, revenue and
earnings. Additionally. defense expedite (DX)-rated orders from the Federal Government, which by law receive
priority, can interrupt scheduled shipments to our other customers.

We single-source our manufacturing processes and are transitioning between vendors; a failure or delay by our
contract-manufacturing vendors could affect our ability to ship our products timely.

We outsource all product manufacturing, including assembly and structural test, as well as functional test, systems
integration, and order fulfillment functions, though we generaily remain liable for inve tory of components and
finished material. The majority of our manufacturing is currently performed by a contrict-manufacturing vendor that
is privately funded and has a limited history of operations. Businesses in the contract-manufacturing industry are
often thinly-capitalized and financed largely by debt, increasing the possibility of financial difficulties. In the event
that our current vendor encounters a downturn in business and is unable to fund its business through ongoing
operations, current financing vehicles, or additional funding, the veador will likely be nnable to fulfill our
manufacturing needs. Any such failure by the current vendor could cause substantial d::lays in our product
shipments to customers and adversely affect our revenue and results of operations,

We are currently transitioning our contract manufacturing to a more established vendor. We expect the transition to
continue throughout calendar 2007. The transition will involve extra manufacturing costs and requires that
manufacturing equipment and inventory be moved between the vendors as well as the transfer of knowledge specific
10 the manufacture of our products. The lack of the new vendor’s experience with our products and adjustments to
working with the new vendor could cause delays in customer product shipments or problems with product quality.
Any other difficuities or failures to perform by either contract marnfacturer could alsc cause delays in customer
product shipments or otherwise negatively affect our results of operations. We intend *n the future to also transfer
responsibility for inventory management and production planning to the contract mannfacturer, which could
increase the risks of carrying too much or too tittle inventory of either component parts or manufactured product.
We have agreed to compensate our contract manufacturers in the cvent of termination or cancellation of orders,
discontinuance of product, or excess material created by an enginesring change. Also, should the new contract
manufacturer in some future period decide not to renew our contract with them, or should we experience any failure
to perform or other difficulties with the contract manufacturer, it would be difficult for us to quickly transfer our
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manufacturing requirements to another vendor, likely causing substantial delays in customer product shipments and
adversely affecting our revenue and results of operations.

Our intellectual property rights may not be adequate to protect our business.

Our future success depends in part upon our proprietary technology. Although we attempt to establish and maintain
rights in proprietary technology and products through patents, copyrights, and trade secrets laws, we cannot predict
whether such protection will be adequate, or whether our competitors can develop similar technology independently
without violating our proprietary rights. As competition in the communications equipment industry increases and the
functionality of the products in this industry further overlap, we believe that companies in the communications
equipment industry may become increasingly subject 10 infringement claims. We have received and may continuc to
receive notice {rom third purties, including some of our competitors, claiming that we are infringing their patents or
their other proprietary rights. To settle such claims, we may enter into licensing arrangements requiring us to pay a
royalty to the third party. We cannot predict whether we will prevail in any litigation over third-party claims. or that
we will be able to license any valid and infringed patents on commercially reasonable terms. Any of these claims,
whether with or without merit, could result in costly litigation, divert our management’s time, attention and
resources, delay our product shipments or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. In addition, a third
party may not be willing to enter into a royally or licensing agreement on acceptable terms, if at all. If a claim of
product infringement against us is successiul and we fail to obtain a license or develop or license non-infringing
technology, we may be unable to market the affected product.

Although we have a number of patent applications pending, we cannot guarantee that any will result in the issuance
of a patent. Even if issued, the patent may later be found to be invalid or may be infringed without our knowledge.
Our issued patents might not be enforceable against competitive products in every jurisdiction and it is difficult to
monitor unauthorized use of vur proprietary technology by others. Regardless of our efforts 10 protect our
intellectual property, the rapidly changing technologies in the networking industry make our future success primarily
a function of the skill, expertise and management abilities of our employees. Nonetheless, others may assert property
rights o technologies that are relevant 1o our currently marketed products or our preducts under development. If our
protected proprietary rights are challenged, invalidated or circumvented, it could have a material adverse effect on
our competitive position and sales of our products. Conversely, if other parties are infringing our patents, we may
pursue claims against them in order to yield value atiributable to our technology. Such claims could involve costly
litigation, could divert our management’s timme and resources, and could result in counterclaims challenging rights to
other technology used by us.

We rely on technologies licensed from third parties.

For each of our product lines, we license some of our technology from third parties. Some of these licenses contain
limitations on distribution of the hicensed technology, are limited in duration, or provide for expiration upon certain
events, such as a change in control of the company. If the relevant licensing agreement expires or ts terminated
without our being able to renew that license on commercially reasonable terms, or if we cannot obtain a license for
our products or enhancements on our existing products we may be unable to market the affected products. For many
of these technologies, we rely on the third-party providers to update and maintain the technology, fixing errors and
adding new features. If the third-party providers do not adequately update and maintain these technologies, whether
due to changes in their product direction, their own financial difficulties, or other reasons, we would need to seck
alternative means to fulfill the ongoing requirements for our products that incorporate the third-party technology. If
we are unable to find alternative meuns of fulfilling the ongoing requirements. we may be unable to market the
affected products. For example, our NX5010 product was developed in partnership with Bay Microsystems (“Bay™)
and includes key components manufactured under license from Bay, for which we paid a license acquisition fee of
$3 million and also pay a royalty on units sold. For follow-on platforms to the NX5010, we may again engage Bay,
which would require payment of an additional license acquisition fee and a royalty on units sold.

We have also begun to oulsource some of our product development activities, which carries inherent risks such as
reduced ability to control the timing and quality of the work product, uncertain continuity and availability of skills
and knowledge, difficulties of managing and integrating the third-party development, and potential disputes over
intellectual property. To the extent we use parties located in overseas jurisdictions, the intellectual property provided
to or developed by the third party may, depending on the laws of the jurisdiction, be subject to weaker or
significantly different intellectual property protection. In using third parties for product development, we must share
with them and will receive from them various intellectual property, which increases the risk of misuse of our
intellectual property, as well as the risk that the resulting product might contain items that infringe the intellectual
property rights of others,
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We face risks associated with changes in regulations and tariffs, including regulation of the Internet.
Changes in domestic and international telecommunications equipmenit requirements cou. d affect the sales of our
products. In the United States, our products must comply with various FCC requirements and regulations. In
countries outside of the United States, our products must sometimes meet various requirements of local
telecommunications authorities. Changes in tariffs or failure by us to obtain timely approval of products could
impact our ability to market the affected product.

New restrictions on trade, such as in response (o transfers of jobs from the United States to lower-cost foreign
locations, could limit our ability to purchase components from, or ouzsource functions te, foreign entities, which
would likely make it more difficult to maintain competitivencss in the global market. As a result of our current
concentration of business to the Federal Government, we are more sensitive to these trade restrictions, whether
tariffs, incentives, or government purchasing requirements such as the “Buy American Act,” than we would be with
a more diversified customer base.

Changes in other laws and regulations, or changes in their interpretation or enforcement thereof, such as
confidentiality requirements under the federal privacy laws, California’s state wage and hour laws, or employment
regulations in foreign jurisdictions, impose additional costs and potential liabilities on the Company.

We are exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currency.

As a global concern, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. These exposures
may change over time as business practices evolve and could have a material adverse affect on our financial results.
We use foreign exchange contracts to hedge significant accounts receivable and intercoripany account balances
denominated in foreign currencies. Although we have established foreign exchange contracts for non-dollar
denominated sales and operating expenses in the United Kingdom, France, and Japan, exposures remain for non-
dollar denominated operating expenses in Asia and Latin America. We will continue to :nonitor our exposure and
may hedge against these or any other emerging market currencies as necessary. Market value gains and losses on
hedge contracts are substantially offset by fluctuations in the underlying balances being nedged.

The location of our facilities subjects us to the risk of earthquake and floods.

Our corporate headquarters, including most of our research and deveiopment operations. are located in the Silicon
Valley area of Northern California, a region known for seismic activity. These facilities are located near the San
Francisco Bay where the water table is quite close to the surface and where tenants have experienced water intrusion
problems in the facilities nearby. A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake or flood, could have a material
adverse affect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We may engage in acquisitions or similar transactions that could disrupt our operations, cause us to incur
substantial expenses, result in dilution to our stockholders, and harm our business if we cannot successfully
integrate the acquired business, producis, technologies or personnel.

Although historically we have focused on internal product development and growth, we may pursue acquisition
prospects that would complement our existing business or enhance our technological capabilities. An acquisition
may result in dilution to the holdings of our stockholders through thz issuance of additional shares of common stock
or other securities as consideration in a transaction. Such dilution could also occur through the sale of common stock
or other securities to raise cash for use as consideration in a transaction. Market perception of a transaction could
have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. Apy acquisition by us could result in large and
immediate write-offs, the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, or amortization e.<penses related to
amortizable intangible assets, any of which could negatively affect our results of operations. Furthermore,
acquisitions involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including difficulties in the assimilation of products,
operations, personnel and technologies; diversion of management’s zttention from other business concerns;
disruptions to our operations; risks of entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience; and
potential loss of key employees.

Any material weakness or significant deficiency identified in our internal controls could have an adverse effect
on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that companies evaluate and report on their internal control
structure and procedures over financial reporting. In addition, our independent accountants must report annually on
management's evaluation as well as evaluate our internal control structure and procedures. Due to the ongoing
evaluation and testing of our internal controls, there could be significant defictencies or material weaknesses that
would be required to be reported in the future. In addition, the evaluation process and ar y required remediation, if
applicable, may increase our accounting, legal and other costs, and may divert management resources from other
business objectives and concerns. Further, we intend to replace our “enterprise resource planning” software, which
is part of our control environment, and which we use to process sales, prepare our financial reports, and perform

16




other critical business processes, during fiscal 2008. Any failure to implement the new system in a timely and fully
functional manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation. and stock price.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2, PROPERTIES

N.E.T. is headquartered in Fremont. California. In December 2001, we entered into a ten-year lease for two
buildings totaling 185.790 square feet for our headquarters and research and development personnel as well as to
house our manufacturing operations. During fiscal 2006, we outsourced all munufacturing operations previously
perfiormed in one of the buildings and ceased use of the building at the end ol fiscal 2007, incurring a restructure
charge of $10.1 million. N.E.T. and our subsidiaries also lease sales and service offices at other locations in the
United States, the United Kingdom, France. and Japan,

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vole of the stockholders during the quarter ended March 30, 2007.




PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

See Notes 9, 10, and 11 to the consolidated financial statements. At May 11, 2007, there were approximately 430
registered stockholders of record of N.E.T.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities during the quarter ended March 30, 2007;
(in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

Total Numbe: of Approximate
Shares Dollar Value of
Purchased s Shares That May
Total Average Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
Number of Price Announced Under the Publicly
Shares Paid Per Plans or Announced Plans
Fiscal Period Purchased Share Programs or Programs

December 30, 2006-January 26, 2007 — — —
January 27-February 23, 2007 14,450 $9.25 —
February 24-March 30, 2007 — — —

14,450 $9.25 —

All shares purchased during the quarter ended March 30, 2007, were acquired in conne ction with awards
previously made under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans. In accordance with the provisions of the
plans, the Company repurchases shares surrendered for payment of tax withholding obligations upon vesting of
restricted stock awards. No shares were purchased during the quarter ended March 30, 2007 under the stock
repurchase plan approved in fiscal 2006 which expired on March 30, 2007. Upon expiration. $6.3 million
allocated to the repurchase program was not utilized.

Market Price

N.E.T.’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “N WK.” The following table
sets forth, for the quarterly periods indicated, the high and low sale prices of our common stock:

Fiscal 2007 Low High
First quarter 5 2790 $ 418
Second quarter 3 289 $ 419
Third quarter $ 413 $ 616
Fourth quarter $ 579 $ 98I

Fiscal 2006 Low High
First quarter 3 494 $ 710
Second quarter $ 445 $ 557
Third quarter 5 417 $ 5.18
Fourth quarter $ 374 $ 454

N.E.T. has never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock and does not intend to pay dividends in the
foreseeable future. In addition, our 7 “4% convertible subordinated debentures trade in thz over-the-counter market.

Information regarding equity compensation plans will be contained i the Proxy Statement in the section captioned
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” and is incorporated herein by reference.




Stock Performance Graph

The graph depicted below shows N.E.T."s stock price as an index assuming $100 invesied over the five year period
beginning on March 31, 2002, along with the composite prices of companies listed in the S&P 500 Index and
NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial information has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements.
The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations and should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulits of Operations™ and
the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

{in thousands, except per share amounts)
Fiscal year ¢nded 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
84094 § 69768 $ 114218 $ 127036 $§ 122,100
(16,194) § (27.235) $ (6432) § (559) § (18.448)
(0.65) $ (1.10) § (0.26) $ (0.02) % (0.82)
247706 ' $ 24706 § 24706 $ 24706 % 24,706
134019 § 136678 § 168476 $ 172,084 $ 164818

Total revenue
Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

7 Y% convertible subordinated debentures

& ©H wn B 9

Total assets
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying notes included in this Form 10-K. Statements contained in this discussion that are not historical facts
are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws that rele te to future events or our
future financial performance. A forward-looking statement may contain words such as “plans,” “hopes,” “believes,’
“estimates,” “will,” “continue 10,” “expect to,” “anticipate that,” “to be,” or “can affect.” Forward-looking
statements are based upon management expectations, forecasts and assumptions that involve risks and uncertainties
that may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Many factors may cause actual results to vary including, but not limited to. the factors idzntified in this discussion.
The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to revise or publicly relzase any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement contained in this discussion ¢xcept as required by law. Investors should
carefully review the risk factors described in this document along with other documents ~he Company files from
time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

»
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Critical Accounting Policy Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingenl assets and liabilities at the date of the financial stetements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates and assumptions, which we evaluate
on an on-going basis, include, but are not limited to: assumptions related to contracts thit have multiple elements,
the allowances for sales returns and potentially uncollectible accounts receivable, the valuation of inventory,
warranty costs, the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, certain reserves and accru als, estimated lives of
depreciable assets. and assumptions related to stock-based compensation. We base our estimates on historical
experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Management has discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting estimates with the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors and the Audit Commiitee has reviewed the foregoing disclosure. Changes in
estimates used in these and other items could have a material effect on our financial statements.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial stalements:

Revenue Recognition: We recognize product revenue when all four of the {ollowing criteria are met:

1) we have a contract with our customer,

2) the product has been shipped as required by the contract and risk of loss has pasted to the customer,
3) the price is fixed or determinable, and

4) collection of payment is reasonably assured.

If the customer has a right of acceptance and we have not yet obtained acceptance, revenue is deferred until the
terms of acceptance are satisfied. When product revenue is deferred, we also defer the associated cost of goods until
the revenue is recognized. We recognize service revenue upon completion of the service or, for ongoing services
such as maintenance, ratably over the period of the contract. For sales arrangements that involve multiple elements
to be delivered at different times, such as a sale of equipment together with post-contract support services, we assign
revenue to each element based on its fair value and recognize revenue for each element s the criteria for recognition
are met. Fair value for each element is determined by vendor-specific objective evidencs:, if available, such as the
sales price charged when the same element is sold separately, or otherwise by the residual method, whereby the
value of delivered elements is determined by subtracting the fair value of the undelivered elements from the total
value of the arrangement. If vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value of one or more undelivered elements
does not exist, revenue on the entire arrangement is deferred and is recognized only upon delivery of those elements
or when fair value has been established.

Allowance for Sales Returns: A reserve for sales returns is established based on actual product returns. If the actual
future returns differ from historical levels, our revenue could be adversely affecied.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is bised on our assessment of the
collectibility of specific customer accounts and the aging of accounis receivable. If there: is a deterioration of a major
customer’s credit worthiness or actual defaults are higher than our historical experience. we may have to increase
our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, and our operating expenses could be adversely affected. Credit
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losses have historically been within our expectations and the allowances for doubtful accounts receivable that were
established.

Inventory Provisions: Inventory purchases and commitments are based upon future demand forecasts. If there is a
significant decrease in demand for our products or there is a higher risk of inventory obsoelescence because of
rapidly changing technology and customer requirecments. we may be required to make adjustments to write down our
inventory (o the lTower of cost or market. and our gross margin could be adversely affected. At March 30, 2007,
inventory reserves were 21.5% of total inventory. Although demand has increased for our products in fiscal 2007,
we announced in early April 2007 that we will be transitioning to a new contract manufacturer, which will result in
higher inventory during the transition period and the possible risk of higher obsolescence in the event that inventory
is not sold during fiseal 2008. Due 1o the decline in demand for our preducts in fiscal 2006, we increased our
inventory reserves for potential excess inventory to 24.3% of gross manulacturing inventory at March 31, 2006 [rom
22.5% at March 25, 2005,

Warranty Accruals:  We provide a warranty for hardware product and soltware generally for twelve months, The
software warranty entitles the customer to bug fixes but not software upgrades during the warranty period. We
accrue warranty expense based on historical expense trends calculated as a percentage of new product sules. Actual
expensecs are charged against the accrual in the period they are incurred. On a quarterly basis. the warranty accrual is
analyzed for adequacy based on actual trends and subsequent adjustments are made to the liability balunce. If uctual
return rates or repair and replacement costs differ significantly from our estimates, adjustments to recognize
additional cost of sales may be required. Historically, all warranty obligations have been determined with reasonable
estimates.

Vacated Facilities: [n March 2007, we ceased use of one of our two Fremont, California facilities. We will not use
the property for the remaining term of the lease, which ends in December 2011, and the building is currently being
marketed for sublease. As a result, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, we took a charge of $10.1 million for the
estimated future net costs of this unused facility. In determining the amount of this charge. we made certain
estimates, including {uture sublease rents 1o be received, future rent increases to be paid to our current landlord,
allocation of original construction costs, and future operating costs. This liability will be adjusted over the remaining
term of the fease, as our estimates change or actual costs are incurred and sublease revenues received.

Stock-based Compensation:  Effective our first quarter of fiscal 2007, we account for stock-based awards to
employees using the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 23R, requiring recognition of the cost of employee
services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award rather
than apply intrinsic value measurement provisions of APB 25,

We have elected the modified prospective transition method as permitted by SFAS 123R and therefore have not
restated the financial results for prior periods. Under this transition method. stock-based compensation expense for
fiscal 2007 includes compensution cxpense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet
vested. as of the beginning of the year, based on the grant date fair valuc estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS 123, as adjusted for estimated forfeitures. We recognize compensation expense for all share-
bused payment awards granted subsequent to fiscal 2006 on a straight-line basis over the respective requisite service
period of the awards. Compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted on or prior to March 31, 2006
bul not vested as of March 31, 2006, is recognized on an accelerated basis.

Deferred Taxes: We have an estimated $126.1 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $36.2 million
of state operating loss carryforwards availuble expiring in the years 2013 through 2027, Currently, we believe that it
is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset witl not be realized and therelore we have recorded a valuation
allowance for the entire balance. In future years. these benefits are avaitable to reduce or climinate taxes on future
taxable income. Current federal and state tax laws include provisions that could limit the annual use of our net
operating loss carryforwards in the event of certain defined changes in stock ownership. Our issuances of common
and preferred stock could result in such a change. Accordingly. the annual use of our net operating loss
carryforwards may be limited by these provisions, and this limitation may result in the loss of carryforward benefits
10 the extent the above-limit portion cxpires before it can be used. We have not yet determined the extent of the
limitation, if any.




Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected data derived from our consolidated statements of operations expressed as a
percentage of revenue for the periods presented:

Year Ended

March March Mirch
Percent of revenue 30, 2007 31, 2006 25, 2005
Product 36.6% 81.3% £4.7%
Service and other 13.4 18.7 15.3
Total revenue 100.0 100.0 j@
Product gross margin 60.4 53.6 59.8
Service and other gross margin 8.1 10.7 14
Total gross margin 53.5 45.5 _ 518
Sales and marketing 22.2 337 2401
Research and development 255 333 12.8
General and administrative 15.6 16.1 9.0
Restructure and other costs 12.1 42 _ 35
Total operating expenses 75.4 87.3 _ 395
Loss from operations (21.9) (41.8) (7.7
Interest income 4.3 3.8 1.6
Interest expense (2.2) (2.7) (n.n
Gain on sale of Federal Services Business — — 1.3
Other income (expense), net (0.1) e _0.n
Loss before taxes (19.9) 40.7) (6.6)
Income tax benefit (0.6) _un 1.0
Net loss (19.3) % _(_3:&9)% __@)%

Overview and Highlights

o Total revenue at $84.1 million for fiscal 2007 increased 20.5% from fiscal 2006, with four consecutive
quarters’ growth, due to growth in product revenue. Product revenue was at its highest level in the most
recent quarter as compared to the past eight quarters as a result of increased business from the government
sector, particularly of IP-based products.

e Sales of the new VX Series platform contributed approximately 20% to product revenue in fiscal 2007. The
VX Series, our voice exchange platform, leverages features of our former SHOUT product to provide a voice-
over-IP (VoIP) enablement solution with advanced network control and securily features. Recent
enhancements to the secure voice features helped us achieve a number of significant sales (o various
government agencies in fiscal 2007. In addition to secure voice applications for the government, the VX
Series platform provides enterprise customers with telephony integration for uni‘ied communications and
unified messaging.

e Qur sales to the government sector and Promina product sales continue to acco it for the majority of our
revenue. Sales to the government increased in fiscal 2007 after decreases during the latter half of fiscal 2006.
Qur sales to the government sector may continue to fluctuate quarter to quarter, 18 government customers
balance their communications infrastructure needs as they move from narrowband, circuit-switched network
products 1o high bandwidth systems based on IP. Spending by government customers is dependent upon the
size of budget allocations and, particularly in our fiscal third quarter, the timely passage of the annual federal
budget. The table below shows sales to our government customers and sales of our Promina product:
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(in thousands) Year Ended Year Ended

March March FYO07 vs March FY06 vs
30, 2007 31, 2006 FY06 25, 2005 FY035
Revenue from government
cuslomers 3 76,571 5§ 60.105 27.4% $ 08857 (39. 9%
% of total revenue 91.1% 86.1% 86.6%
Promina product revenue $ 51,522 § 44,088 16.9% $ 78.549 (43.9)%
% of product revenue 70.8% 77.7% 81.2%

¢ We are progressing on onur new product initfatives. Qur NX Series network exchange products are targeted to
high speed SAN 1o WAN communicalions and secure grid computing, as well as tactical military and disaster
preparedness applications. During the third quarter of fiscal 2007, we began shipping our NX5010 high-speed
network exchange platform. Our NX 1000 Series multi-service WAN switch was released for generat
availability in carly fiscal 2008,

® Our cash position remains strong. Total cash, which includes cash equivalents and short-term investments,
increased to $90.1 million at March 30, 2007, This compares to $86.2 million at March 31, 2006.

* Additional week in fiscal 2006. The Company's fiscal year consists of four 13-week quarters, ending on
Friday. Every five to seven years, there is an additional week in a fiscal year and a quarter within that year.
In the second quarter of fiscal 2006. the company had a 14-week quarter, resulting in an additional week in
that year. The cffect of this extra week was additional product revenue of $331,000, additionat cost of product
sales of $80.000. additional cost of service revenues of $45.000. and additional operating expenses of
$735.000. There was no significant additional service revenue as a result of the additional week.

Revenue
(in thousands) Year Ended Year Ended
March March FYO07 vs March FY06 vs
30, 2007 31, 2006 FY06 25, 2005 FYOs
Product § 72813 $ 56712 28.4 % $ 96726 (41.4)%
Service and other 11,281 13.056 (13.6) 17,492 (25.4)
Total revenue $ 84,094 $ 69.768 20.5 % $ 114,218 (38.9)%

Total revenue in fiscal 2007 was higher than fiscal 2006 due o increased product revenue,

Product revenuc tn fiscal 2007 increased from fiscal 2006 due to growth in government sales. Total revenue from
our government business increased $16.5 million or 27.4% in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006, after a $38.8
million or 39.2% decline in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005. The increase in revenue from our government business in
fiscal 2007 is due to increased demand by government customers for tactical and mobile applications, including an
increase of 31 1.9 million in revenue from sales of our VX and NX5010 products. Sales to the government declined
in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005 due mainly to a decline in Promina revenue as the networking equipment market
conlinued to move to 1P-based commuaications, and the number of operational systems deployed in government
programs that use our Promina systems declined.

Sales o the government scctor may continue to fluctuate as the government balances its communications
infrastructure needs and budget constraints. A substantial portion of the revenue generated from our government
cuslomers is based on our contract with the General Services Administration (GSA). Our current GSA contract has
been extended through June 27, 2007 while it is up for renewal for a mulli-year period. pending agreement on new
pricing and other terms. Assuming the contract is renewed by the GSA, we expect some of the discounts provided 1o
the government 10 be higher than those in the current contract, which could have an adverse eifect on the amount of
fulure government revenue.

During the latier part of fiscal 2006, we announced our voice cxchange platform, the VX Series, which leverages
features of our former SHOUT product. Our most recently available new product line, the NX Series network
exchange platform, is initially targeted for high-speed SAN 1o WAN communications and secure grid computing. as
well as lactical military and disaster prepuredness applications. The first NX Series product, the NX5011), began
shipping in the second hall of fiscal 2007. Combined product revenue from our VX Series, including the predecessor
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SHOUT product, and NX Series products was $16.5 million, $4.5 million, and $3.6 million for fiscal years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.

Service and other revenue decreased in fiscal 2007 from 2006 and in fiscal 2006 from 2005. The decrease in service
and other revenue is primarily due to a decline in the installed base of equipment held by non-government customers
as well as the cancellation in the second quarter of 2006 of a customer service contract th at accounted for annual
revenue of approximately $2.8 million.

Through a contractual arrangement with CACI International Inc. (CACI), CACI has certiin rights to provide
maintenance and other services to our Federal customers. During the fourth quarter of 2007, our relatienship with
CACI was expanded. Under the new arrangement, both N.E.T. and CACI will sell services for N.E.T.’s product
lines, and cach company will be responsible for various aspects of scrvice delivery. Revenue from maintenance and
training services will be shared between both companies, with the percentage determinedt based upon revenue levels.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, this arrangement resulted in $413,000 of additional revenue.

Significant fluctuations in our revenue can occur as a result of factors affecting the timing of the recognition of
revenue, including customer deployment schedules and the satisfaction of contractual acceptance provisions.

Gross Margin
Year Ended
March March March
30, 2007 31, 2006 25, 2005
Product gross margin 60.4% 53.6% 59.8%
Service and other gross margin 9.1 10.7 74
Total gross margin 53.5% 45.5% _51.8%

Total gross margin increased in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 and fiszal 2005 due to higher product gross margin.

The increase in product gross margin in fiscal 2007 is due primarily to recognition of deferred revenue of $2.7
million upon achieving a milestone under our NATO contract with no associated product cost, increased shipment
volume, and reduced production costs from fully outsourcing product manufacturing in September 2005. Until
September 2005, we continued to perform a small portion of manufacturing activity at cur Fremont facility, such
that our production overhead included the costs of activities at two locations. The most significant of the additional
manufacturing costs were fixed costs of the Fremont facility, which were approximately $544,000 from April 2005
through August 2005. Since September 2003, all costs of this facility are included in ge 1eral and administrative
expense.

The decrease in product gross margin in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005 is due to lower product revenue on relatively
fixed production overhead costs and the affect of an accrual for a restitution payment to the GSA, and additional
fixed production overhead costs from the extra week in fiscal 2006.

Product gross margin can be significantly affected by the mix of products sold, including the extent of third-party
products sold. The introduction of new products, which typically huve lower gross margins as a result of customary
discounting for early customers and higher per-unit costs associated with low purchase volumes of components, can
affect margins as we transition from our established Promina product to newer products.

The decrease in service and other gross margin in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 i3 due to a lower amount of
service and other revenue spread over substantially the same cost structure in gach period. The increase in service
and other gross margin in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 is due to decreased costs of our service operations as
we aligned our cost structure with current service requirements. The reductions in costs from realigning our service
operations in fiscal 2006 were offset by $45,000 in additional costs as a result of the additional weck in fiscal 2006.

Service and other gross margin is affected primarily by the number of customers on maintenance contracts, our
contractual relationships with service partners, and the mix of services provided. Until the Company expanded its
relationship with CACI in the fourth guarter of fiscal 2007, our government customers primarily recetved service
from CACI. CACI received a majority of the revenue even where we had the contractual relationship with the
customer, which adversely affected our service margin. Service gross margin will typically vary over time due to
changes in the mix of services, whether fixed-cost or time and materials based, for exanple, and the timing of
service contract initiations and renewals.
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Operating Expenses

(in thousands) Year Ended Year Ended
March March FY 07 vs March FY 06 vs
30, 2007 31, 2006 FY06 25, 2005 FY03
Sales and markeling $ 18,699 $ 23,493 {204) % $ 27,530 (14.7Y%
Research and development 21,432 23,235 (7.8} 26.053 (10.8)
General and administrative 13,129 11,265 16.5 10,283 9.5
Restructure and other costs 10,183 2921 248.6 4,047 (27.8)
Total operating expenscs $ 63,443 $ 60914 42 % $ 67913 (10.3)%

Total operaling expenses increased in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 due primarily o recording a $10.2 million charge
for restructuring in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 and $1.1 million related to expensing of stock compensation,
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2007. These increases were partially offset by a decline in spending for sales
and marketing as well as rescarch and development. Total operuting expenses decreased in fiscal 2006 from fiscal
2005 due primarily to cost-cutting efforts across all functions as a result of our efforts o realign the business with
revenue levels. and lower restructure costs as compared to fiscal 2005.

The primary changes in operating expenses in fiscal 2007 versus fiscal 2006 arc:

We incurred substantial restructure costs in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, due mainly to vacating our
former manufacturing facility in California. The costs of restructuring incurred in fiscal 2006 related
primarily to severance costs, of which $1.1 million related to the severance agreement with the former CEQO.

Beginning in July 2005, we reduced our compuany headcount by 104, or 30%, 10 238 at March 30, 2(07.
Approximately 80% of those employees were charged to operaling expenses. such that operating expenses
declined beginning in the second half of fiscal 2006, and continued to decline through most of fiscal 2007.
Offsetting this reduction is the charge for stock-based compensation of $1.1 million, due to adopting the
provisions of SFAS [23R during fiscal 2007. We do not expect to achieve additional cost reductions by
further reducing headcount.

Our sales and marketing expenses decreased as a result of lower headcount, which reduced compensatton and
benefits costs by $2.5 million, and a reduction of $1.5 million in expenses for travel and entertainment, trade
shows, and marketing communications. offset by charges of $257.000 for stock-based compensation,

Our rescarch and development expenses decreased as a result of lower headcount, which reduced
compensation and benefits costs by $1.6 million, a reduction of $626,000 in depreciation, and a reduction of
$686.000 in allocated business support expenses such as corporate information technology. The reductions
were partially offset by $656.000 of increased costs for contractors and consultants and $285.000 for charges
for stock-based compensation.

Our general and administrative expenses increased primarily due to the costs of our former Fremont
manufacturing facility. We ceased using the facility for manufacturing during fiscal 2006 yet continued to
utilize it for general corporate purposes, with the result that all costs of the facility from September 2005 were
classified as general and administrative. Previously, most of these costs were recorded as cost of product
revenue and expenses of functional areas other than generul and administrative. The effect in fiscal 2007 of
reporting all costs of the facility in general and administirative expenses for the full year as compared 1o seven
months during fiscal 2006 was an increase of $1.4 million. This facility was vacated in the fourth guarter of
fiscal 2007 for which the related exit costs were charged (o restructure costs. General and administrative
expenses also increased due to charges of $534.000 for stock-based compensation.

We incurred additional costs of $735,000 in (iscal 2006 as a result of the additional week.

We recognized accelerated depreciation of approximately $815.000 in fiscal 2007 for our ERP system as a
result of our intent to replace it in fiscal 2008.

The primary changes in operating expenses in fiscal 2006 versus fiscal 2005 are:

We reduced non-production headeount to approximately 210 employees at March 31, 2006 from 284 at
March 25, 2005, which accounted for reductions in compensation and bhenefits costs totaling $4.7 million
across all functions,




* We reduced office space or closed offices in field locations, reducing non-manufa:turing facility and rent
costs by $1.9 million. This reduction was offset by a net increase in general and administrative expenses of
$982,000 due mainly to the inclusion since September 2005 of all expenses, totaling approximately $2.0
million, related to our former Fremont manufacturing facility as we used the facility for general corporate
purposes. Prior to September 2005, most of these facility costs were recorded as ¢ sts of product revenue and
expenses of functional areas other than general and administrative.

» We reduced travel and entertainment expenses by $521,000 and trade shows and narketing communications
expenses by $459,000.

* We benefited from reductions in depreciation of approximately $1.8 million as capital spending decreased
and as more fixed assels became fully depreciated.

s Restructure and other costs in fiscal 2006 were $1.1 million less. These costs related primarily to the
severance agreement with our former chief executive officer. Restructure and other costs in fiscal 2005
included employee separation costs of $3.6 million from two separate reorganizat ons of our international
sales organization, the second of which also involved research and development and other areas. Other costs
related to facility exit costs resulting from a consolidation of sales and service offices in Virginia and closure
of a research and design facility in Ottawa, Canada.

* These reductions were offset by approximately $735,000 in additional costs as a r2sult of the additional week
in fiscal 2006.

Non-Operating Items

(in thousands) Year Ended Year Ended
March March FY 07 vs Mrch FY 06 vs
30, 2007 31, 2006 FYO06 25, 2005 FY05
Interest income $ 3,625 $ 2,665 360% § 1,831 455 %
Intcrest expense $ (1,84D) $ (1,863) (1.2Y% % (1,962) (5.00%
Gain on sale of Federal
Services Business $ —  $ — — 3 1,500 (100.0)%
Other expense b e 3 (59) 13.6% 3 (162) (63.6)%

Interest income increased in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 due primarily to higher yields on our short-
term investments. The increase in fiscal 2006 was partially offset by lower average cash balances, as cash and
investments declined to $86.2 million at March 31, 2006 from $108.7 million at March 225, 2005. Interest expense in
all years consisted primarily of the interest on our 7 1/4% convertible subordinated debentures.

In fiscal 2005, we recorded a gain on the sale of our federal services business of $1.5 million, which resulted from
certain milestones being met as part of the sale of the federal services business to CACI, which was completed in
fiscal 2005.

Other expense was comprised of:

(in thousands) Year Ended Yearr Ended
March March FY 07 vs March FY 06 vs
30, 2007 31, 2006 FY06 25, 2005 FY05
Gain (loss) on foreign
exchange $ 353 28 (289.3)% $ (96) 129.2 %
Realized loss on investments ) (65) (89.2)% (43) 51.2 %
Loss on sales of assets — —_ — (4) 100.0 %
Other (7) (22) (68.2)% R ) 144.4%
3 67 3 {59} 13.6 % 3 (162) (63.6)%

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

The income tax benefit of $508,000 for fiscal 2007 relates mainly to the reversal of a reserve upon completion of the
statutory period for examination in the United Kingdom as well as the resolution of a stite matter in the United
States. Income tax benefit was $1.2 million in fiscal 2006, of which the majority related to the reversal of a reserve
resulting from the final resolution of a German tax matter, and, to a lesser exient to the reversal of a reserve upon
completion of the statutory period for examination in the United Kingdom. Income tax senefit was $1.1 million in
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fiscal 2005, related to the reversal of a reserve upon completion of tax inspections in the United Kingdom. We
continually evaluate the risks associated with tax returns that have not yet passed the statutory period for
examination by lax authorities in various jurisdictions. When such periods are completed, estimated taxes previously
provided may be adjusted, dependent upon the outcome of examinations, if any.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Typically, our primary sources of liquidity and capital resourees are our cash balances, cash provided by operating
activities, and committed credit lines:

Cash Balances:  As of March 30, 2007, we had cash balances of $90.1 million. including cash equivalents of $10.4
million and short-term investments of $79.7 million, as compared to $86.2 million as of March 31, 2006 and $108.7
million at the end of fiscal 2005, The 2006 balance includes cash and cash equivalents of $6.9 million and short-
term investments of $79.3 mitlion. The 2005 balance includes cash and cash equivalents of $14.3 million, shorl-term
investments of $93.7 million, and long term restricted cash included in other assets on our balance sheet of
$697.000, related to our Fremont, California facility lease and performance guarantees on customer contracts.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:  The improvement of $19.9 million in net cash provided by
operaling activities for fiscal 2007 compared 1o net cash used in fiscal 2006 is primarily the result of increased
revenue and a decrease in normal operaling expenses. Net loss in fiscal 2007 decreased $11.0 million, and included
non-cash charges of $10.1 million related to ceasing use of a Tacility and $1.2 million in stock-based compensation
COSIS.

Increased revenue and related costs of revenue in fiscal 2007 resulted in an increase in accounts receivable of $5.1
million, a decrease of inventory of $2.1 million, and an increase in accounts payable of $2.5 million. Decreased
revenue and related costs of revenue in fiscal 2006 resulted in a decrease in accounts receivable of $6.0 million as
well as a decrease in accounts payable of $2.5 million. Days sales outstanding (DSO) were 54 days at March 30,
2007 as compared 10 63 days at March 31, 2006.

Non-cash adjustiments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in} operating activities in fiscal 2007
primarily relate to depreciation of $7.3 million. loss on disposition of property and equipment of $5.7 million
primarily related to leaschold improvements of our vacated facility. and costs of stock-based compensation of $1.2
million. The costs of stock-based compensation in fiscal 2007 increased as compared to fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005
due to the adoption of SFAS 123R in fiscal 2007.

Non-cash adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities in fiscal 2006 and 2005 primarily
relate to depreciation and amortization of $7.2 million and $8.6 million. respectively, offset by a gain on the sale of
our Federal Services Business of $1.5 million in fiscal 2005.

Net Cash Provided by {Used in) Investing Activities:  The decrease in net cash provided by investing activities in
fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 is primarily due to sules and maturitics of short-term investments
approximately equaling purchases in fiscal 2007 as compared to proceeds from sales and maturities exceeding
purchases by $14.8 million in fiscal 2006. In fiscal 2007, we generated more cash from operations than in the prior
years, which reduced the need 10 liquidate short-term investments. The greater amount of proceeds from sales and
muaturities over purchases of short-term investments in fiscal 2006 resulted from the need for cash to fund current
operations and our stock repurchuse program. In fiscal 2005, purchases of short-term investments exceeded proceeds
from maturities ol short-term investments by $4.7 million as we invested cash generated from operations.

During fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006. we invested a total of $3.0 million in license and development costs as a result of
a license and development agreement executed in October 2005 with a third party technology supplier. We expect
future investments in technology projects and property, plant and equipment to be slightly larger than the amount
invested during fiscal 2007 as we anticipate increased investment in product development activities. [n fiscal 2005,
net cash used in invested activities included $1.5 million in proceeds from the sale of our Federal Services Business.
which was completed in Niscal 2005, and we will receive no further cash from this sale.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities:  Net cash provided by finuncing activities in fiscal 2007
resulted from $3.5 million in sales of common stock under employee stock pluans, reduced by $245.000 1o
repurchase restricted stock from employees for payment of withholding tax obligations arising from the vesting of
restricted stock awards. Net cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2006 resulted from repurchases of common
stock towaling $3.7 million under our stock repurchase program, offset by $2.1 million from the issuance of commaon
stock under employee stock plans. Net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2005 resulted from $4.2
million in sales of common stock under employee stock plans, offset by $1.7 million in repayments on our note
payable o our landlord, which was repaid in full.
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In fiscal 2006, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan which continued for up to twenty-four
menths. As of March 31, 2006, the Company had repurchased 737,000} shares at an average price of $5.00 per share.
No shares were repurchased during fiscal 2007, and the program expired on March 30, 2007.

Afier the end of fiscal 2007, our former CEQ exercised his remaining stock options. The 1et proceeds of these
option exercises total $5.6 million, Future proceeds to us from the isseance of common stock under employee stock
plans will be afiected by fluctuations in our stock price.

Credit Lines: We maintain a $7.0 million line of credit that is availatle both for cash advances and for standby
letters of credit. It bears interest at the bank’s prime rate for cash advances and at prime minus 1% for letters of
credit (7.25% at March 30, 2007). The line, which expires in October 2007, is secured by our accounts receivable.
The agreement requires immediate repayment of all amounts outstanding if our cash balance, defined as the sum of
unrestricted cash and short and long-term investments, declines more than $10.0 million from the previous quarter
or $30.0 million during the preceding twelve months. As of March 30, 2007, $3.0 million in letters of credit were
outstanding.

Summary Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments: Tae following table provides
a summary of our contractual obligations and other commercial comroitments as of March 30, 2007:

(in thousands)

2009 2011 After
Contractual obligations Total 2008 to 2010 to 2012 2012
Long-term debt $ 24706 § — 8 — 5 — % 24706
Interest on long-term debt 13,434 1,791 3,582 3,582 4,479
Operating [eases 18,830 4,200 7,744 __ 6,886 —

Total contractual obligations § 56,970 $ 5,991 S 11,326 $ 1468 $ 29,185

Included in the operating lease amounts are payments on our vacated {acilities in Fremoni and Canada, of which
$3.9 million, representing the discounted value of the lease payments. net of assumed sublease income, is accrued in
our restructure lability at March 30, 2007,

In the normal course of business, we enter into contractual commitments to purchase materials and components from
suppliers in exchange for favorable pricing or more beneficial terms. As of March 30, 2007, there were no such
outstanding commitments.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments witl be sutficient to fund operations
through at least the next twelve months. We believe the most strategic uses of our cash resources in the near term
include strategic investments to gain access to new technologies, acquisitions, and workir g capital. Depending on
the scope of such investments, additional capital may be required to pursue some of those activities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There are no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to materially affeci our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
Iesources.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (SFAS) No. 159 (SFAS 159), The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and F:nancial Liabilities, which
allows entities to choose to measure certain financial instruments and certain other items at fair value (the “fair value
option™). The election is made on an instrument-by- instrument basis and is irrevocable. It the fair value option is
elected for an instrument, SFAS 159 specifies that all subsequent changes in fair value for that instrument shall be
reported in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which is our fiscal
2009. We will be evaluating the impact on our consolidated financial statements of adopting SFAS 139.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 1£7), which clarifies that fair
value is the amount that would be exchanged to sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants. Further, the standard establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles and expands certain disclosures about fair valuc measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods vrithin these fiscal years. We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements,
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In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on how prior year misstatements should be taken into
consideration when quantifying misstatements in current year financial statements for purposes of determining
whether the current year's financial statements are materially misstated. SAB 108 is effective with our current fiscal
year. The provisions of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No, 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in [ncome Taxes-an
inlerpretation of SFAS No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48
requires companies to recognize the effect of a tax position in the financial statements if that position is more likely
than not sustainable on audit. based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as
of the beginning of our fiscal year 2008. with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as
an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting FIN 48 on our
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the Emerging [ssues Task Force (EITFE) ratified the consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-3, "How Taxes
Coliected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income
Stalement” (EITF 06-3). EITF 06-3 requires that companies disclose their accounting policy regarding the gross or
net presentation of certain taxes. Taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3 are any tax assessed by a governmental
authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may
include, but are not limited to, sales, use, value added and some cxcise taxes. In addition, il such taxes are
significant, and are presented on a gross basis, the amounts of those taxes should be disclosed. EITF 06-3 was
effective for our fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. There was no impact on our consolidated financial statements. Our
policy is generally to record taxes within the scope of EITF 06-3 on a net basis.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion about our market risk disclosure involves forward-looking statements. Actual results couid
differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.

We use foreign exchange contracts to hedge significant accounts receivable and intercompany account balances
denominated in foreign currencies. Market value gains and losses on these hedged contracts are substantially offset
by fluctuations in the underlying balances being hedged. At March 30, 2007, our primary net foreign currency
exposures were in Japanese yen, British pounds, and Euros. The net financial impact of foreign exchange gains and
losses are recorded in other income. Our policy is 10 not use hedges or other derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

We believe our hedging strategy will not have a significant effect on our business. operating results or financial
condition. A 10% adverse change in the foreign currency rates affecting the contracts as of their March 30, 2007
levels would decrease the fuir value of the contracts by approximately $700,000 and if this occurred, the fair value
of the underlying exposures hedged by the contracts should increase or decrease by a similar amount, However, we
could have gains or losses in the future if our actual balances differ from the amounts hedged under foreign
cxchange contracts. The amount of such gains or losses would depend in part on the timing and amount of foreign
currency exchange rate movements.

A portion of our investment portfolio is composed of income securities. These securities are subject 1o interest rate
risk and will fall in value if market interest rates increase. A sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical increase or
decrease of 10% from levels at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 indicated the fair value of the portfolio would
change by approximately $400,000 and $300.000 at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, respectively. At March
30, 2007, the fair value of the short-term investments was $79.7 million compared to $79.3 million at March 31,
2006.

The Tair market value of our convertible subordinated debentures is sensitive to changes in interest rates and 1o the
prices of our common stock into which it can be converted as well as our financia!l stability. The yield to maturity on
the debentures is fixed, therefore the interest expense on the debt does not fluctuate with interest rates. The fair value
of the trading debt securities was approximately $22.7 million and $21.5 million at March 30, 2007 and March 31,
2006. respectively.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial Highlights:

{(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Fiscal vear ended
March March
Highlights 30, 2007 31, 2006
Total revenue $ 84,094 i 69,768
Loss from operations $ (18,419 3 (29,139)
Net loss 5 (16,194 §(27.235)
Basic and diluted net loss per share 3 (0.65) 4 (1.10)
Working capital $ 94,805 § 92,409
Total assets $ 134,019 4 136,678
7 Y% convertible subordinated debentures $ 24,706 $ 24706
Total stockholders’ equity $ 81,584 § 92,146
Number of employees : 218 254
Quarterly financial data (unaudited):

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Fiscal quarter 2007

First Second "Chird Fourth
Total revenue $ 17444 § 19,550 $ 22,069 $ 25,031
Gross margin § 9253 % 9819 § 12078 $ 13,874
Net loss $ (3704 § (24060 § (599 $ (9,485)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (015 $ @©10 $ (0.02) $  (©37N

Fiscal quarter 2006

First Second ‘fhird Fourth
Total revenue $ 18373 % 21,635 § 16,352 $ 13,408
Gross margin $ 8976 % 10451 % 7221 $ 5127
Net loss $ 5101) $§ (5722) 3§ (6,248) 5 (10,164)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $§ 021 $ (023 $ (025 $ (04D

The fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 includes restructure costs of $10.2 million, as compared! to $1,1 million in the
comparable quarter of fiscal 2006.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Network Equipment Technologies, Inc.
Fremont, California

We have audited the accompanying conselidated balance sheets of Network Equipment Technologies, [nc. and
subsidiaries (the "Compuny™} as of March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006. and the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders” equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended March 30, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at ltem 15.
These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards ot the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis.
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and signilicant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the finuncial position of
the Company at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006. and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended March 30. 2007. in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Also, in our opinion. such financial statement schedule. when constdered in relation
to the basic consolidated finuncial statements taken as o whole, present Fairly, in all material respects, the
information set forth therein.

As described in Note 1 o the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Shure-Bascd Payment,” effective April 1, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness ol the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 30, 2007, based on
the criteria established in Internal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commisston and our report dated May 25, 2007 cxpressed an unqualified opinion on
management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and an
unqualified opinion on the effectivencess of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

£/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, Calilornia
May 25, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except par value amounts)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $39 at March 30, 2007
and $136 at March 31, 2006
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment:
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
7 Y% redeemable convertible subordinated debentures
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock ($0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none
outstanding}

Common stock ($0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized;
25,727 and 24,814 shares outstanding at March 30, 2007 and
March 31, 2006)

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury stock

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Sce accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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March 30, March 31,
2007 2006
10479 % 6,928
79,653 79,293
14,812 9,705
10,452 12,229
3,242 3,407
118,648 111,562
38,0135 44 412
3471 5,049
10,618 21,524
52,124 70,985
(41,543) (50,236)
10,531 20,749
4,790 4.367
134019 % 136,678
83559 % 6,061
15,274 13,092
23,843 19,153
24,706 24,706
3.886 673
28,592 25,379
257 248
204,439 199,733
(7,526) (7,081)
542 (620)
(116,528) (100,134)
81,584 92,146
134,019 8 136,678



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue:
Product
Service and other
Total revenue

Costs of revenue:
Cost of product revenue
Cost of service and other revenue
Total cost of revenue

Gross margin

Operating expenses;
Sales and marketing
Rescarch and development
General and administrative
Restructure and other costs
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on sale of Federal Services Business
Other expense, net
1.0ss before taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per share

Basic and diluted common and common equivalent shares

Consulidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss:

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (loss). net of taxes:

Cumulative wanslation adjustments

Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities

Comprehensive loss

See accompanying notes 1o conselidated financial statements
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Fiscal Year Ended

March March March
30, 2007 31, 2006 25, 2005
72813 0§ 50712 % 96,726
11,281 13.056 17,492
84,094 69,768 114,218
28.821 26.328 38.847
10,249 11,665 16,197
39,070 37,993 55.044
45,024 31,775 59.174
18,699 23,493 27,530
21,432 23,235 26,033
13.129 11.265 10,283
10,183 2.921 4,047
63.443 60.914 67913
(18.419) (29,139 (8,739)
3.625 2.665 1.831
(1.841) {1,863) (1.962)
_ — 1,500
(67) (59) {162)
(16,702) (28.396) (7,532
(508) (1.161) (1,100)
(16.194) §$ (27.235) $ (6,432)
(0.65) % (1 % (0.26)
25,003 24,725 24,531
(16,194 $ (27.235) % (6,432)
656 212) 222
506 431 (1,260}
(15,032) §% 27.016) % (7.470)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year Ended

(in thousands) March Ilarch March
30, 2007 31, 2006 25, 2005
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year $ 6928 $ 14325 % 8,679

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net loss (16,194) (27,235) (6,432)
Adjustment required to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operations:

Depreciation and amortization 7,346 7,172 8,604
Loss on disposition of property and equipment 5,676 217 404
Stock-based compensation 1,212 104 273
Gain on sale of Federal Services Business — -— (1,500)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (5,117} 6.020 3,984
Inventories 2,060 675 541
Prepaid expenses and other assets (138) (801) 193
Accounts payable 2,508 (2,541) 2,268
Accrued and other long-term liabilities 5,385 L (792) (1,114)
Net cash provided by (used in) operations 2,738 _(17,181) 7.221
Cash flow from investing activities:
Purchase of short-term investments (74,336) (45,285) (76,719)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments 74,482 60,109 71,979
Purchases of property and equipment (2,690) (1,526) (3,819)
Payment for license and development agreement (625) (2,375) —
Proceeds from sale of Federal Services Business — — 1,500
Decrease in restricted cash — 697 2,416
Other 58 _ (71) 460
Net cash provided by (vsed in) investing activities 3,11y 11,549 (4,183)
Cash flow from financing activities:
lssuance of common stock 3,503 2,127 4,150
Rephrchase of common stock (245) (3.680) —
Repayment of note payable — _ — (1,732}
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,258 (1,553) 2418
Effect of exchange rate on cash 666 _ (212} 190
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,551 _(1.397) 5,646
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 510479 $__ 6,928 $ 14325
Other cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year:
Interest $ 1,808 § 1.825 § 1,929
Non cash investing and financing activities:
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities 3 506 % 431 § (1.,260)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
other Total
{in thousands) Common Stock Paidin  Treasury Comprehensive  Accumulated  Stockholders’
Shares  Amount  Capilal Stock Income (Loss) Delicit Equity

Balances, March 26, 2004 24,165 $241 5193093 3(3.408) $199 $(66.467) $123.658
Issuance and sale of common

staock under stock-based

compensation plans 579 6 2,624 — — — 2,630
Sale of common stock under

ESPP 260 3 1.517 — — — 1.520
Stock-based compensation — 273 — — — 273
Net unrealized loss on securities — — — (1,260) — (1,260)
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — 222 — 222
Net loss — — — — (6,432) (6.432)
Balances, March 25, 2005 25,004 250 197,507 (3.408) (839 (72.899) 120,611
Issuance and sale of common

stock under stock based

compensation plans 245 2 884 — — — 886
Sale of common stock under

ESPP 302 3 1,238 — — — 1,241
Stock-based compensation — 104 — — — 104
Repurchase of common stock (737 ()] (3,673) — — (3.680)
Net unrealized gain on securitics — — — 431 — 431
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (212) — (212)
Net loss — — — — (27.235) (27,238)
Balances, March 31, 2006 24,814 248 199,733 (7.081) (620) (100.134) 92,146
Issuance and sale of common

stock under stock-based

compensation plany 933 9 3.494 — — — 3,503
Stock-based compensation — 1.212 — — — 1.212
Repurchase of common stock (40) — — (245) — — {245)
Net unrealized gain on securities — — — 506 — 506
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — 656 — 656
Net loss — — — — (16.194) (16.194)
Balances. March 30, 2007 25.727 §257 $204.439  $(7.326) $542 $(116,328) 581.584

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements




NETWORK EQUIPMENT TECHNOLOGIES, INC,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business: Network Equipment Technologies, Inc. (the Company or N.E.T.) is a global provider of
voice and data telecommunications equipment for multi-service networks requiring high deg ‘ees of versatility,
interoperability, security and performance. N.E.T. offers an array of products purpose-built for mixed-service, multi-
protocol networks; bandwidth-sensitive site communications; high performance, security-ser sitive transmissions;
and converged communications. N.E.T. delivers solutions that enable scamless integration and migration of existing
networks to secure internet protocol (IP)-based voice and data communications. N.E.T. was ‘ounded in 1983.

Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Segments:  The Company’s management uses consolidated financial information in determining how to allocate
resources and assess performance. For this reason, the Company has determined that it is engaged in a single
reportable segment.

Basis of Presentation: The Company’s fiscal year ends on the last Friday in March. In most years, the fiscal year
is 52 weeks, with each quarter comprised of thirteen weeks, which allows comparability of cuarter over quarter
results. Fiscal 2006 included a 53rd week, which was included in the second quarter of the yzar.

Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes product revenue when all four of the following criteria are met:

1) the Company has a contract with its customer,

2) the product has been shipped as required by the contract and risk of loss has passed to the customer,
3) the price is fixed or determinable, and

4) collection of payment is reasonably assured.

If the customer has a right of acceptance and the Company has not yet obtained acceptance, revenue is deferred until
the terms of acceptance arc satisfied. When product revenue is deferred, the Company also ¢ efers the associated cost
of goods until the revenue is recognized. The Company recognizes service revenue upon completion of the service
or, for ongoing services such as maintenance, ratably over the period of the contract. For salzs arrangements that
involve multiple elements to be delivered at different times, such as a sale of equipment together with post-contract
supporl services, the Company assigns revenue to cach element based on its fair value and r:cognizes revenue for
each element as the criteria for recognition are met. Fair value for each element is determined by vendor-specific
objective evidence, if available, such as the sales price charged when the same element is sold separately or
otherwise by the residual method, whereby the value of delivered elements is determined by subtracting the fair
value of the undelivered elements from the total value of the arrangement. If vendor-specific objective evidence of
{air value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, revenue on the entire arrange nent is deferred and is
recognized only upon delivery of those elements or when fair value has been established.

Financial Statement Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity wih accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and labilities at the date of
the financial siatements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the repor.ing period. Such
management cstimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to: assumptions related to coniracts that have
multiple elements, the allowances for sales returns and potentially uncollectible accounts re seivable, the valuation of
inventory, warranty costs, the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, certain reserves and accruals, estimated
lives of depreciable and amortizable assets, and assumptions related to stock-based compensation. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investment: with original maturities
of three months or less at the rime of acquisition.

Short-term Investments: Short-term investments are primarily composed of highly liquid investments with
original maturities of greater than three months at the time of acquisition. The Company classifies its short-term
cash investments as available-for-sale securities. The carrying value of such securities is adjusted to fair market
value, with unrealized gains and losses being excluded from earnings and reported as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses on the sale or maturity of short-term investraents are determined on
the basis of specific identification.

Allowance for Sales Returns: A reserve for sales returns is established based on actual product returns,
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Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: The Company’s credit evaluation process and the reasonably
short collection terms help mitigate credit risk. The Company typically does not require collateral or other security
to support accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers™ financial
condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary. The Company maimains reserves for
known recourse obligations and estimated bad debts. The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is based on the
assessment of the collectibility of specific customer accounts and the aging of accounts receivable. Credit losses
have historically becn within our expectations and the allowances for doubtful accounts receivable that were
established.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and include material, labor and
manufuacturing overhead costs. Inventories consisted of the following:

(in thousands) ;:135337 31\11322;[)‘6
—_— —_—
Purchased components $ 4,082 b 4,378
Work-in-process 5.401 6.166
Finished goods 964 1,685
$ 10,452 $ 12.229

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed uvsing the straight-
line method over estimated useful lives of generally three o ten years. Leaschold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of the respective lease terms or estimated vseful lives.

Software Development Costs:  Capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of
technological feasibility for the products, and wnortization beging when the products are available for release to
customers. The Company assesses the recoverubility of capitalized software development costs in light of many
factors, including anticipated future revenue. estimated economic useful lives and changes in software and hardware
technologies. The Company did not capitalize internal software development costs in fiscal years 2007, 2006 or
2005. Software development costs are amortized over the lives of the products, generally three years.

Long-lived Assets:  The carrying value of long-lived assets, including goodwill and other intangibles, is evaluated
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may be impaired. An
impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected 1o result from the use of the
asset including disposition are less thun the carrying value of the asset. An impairment is measured as the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. Such losses were not significant for the years presented. Intangible
assets that have finite useful lives greater than a year, consisting primarily of patents. purchased technology and
rights to use technologies. are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Foreign Currency: The functional currency for the Company’s foreign subsidiaries 1s the local currency. Assets
and labilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into dollars at the rates of exchange n effect at the end of the
period. Revenue and expenses are translated into dollars at the average exchunge rate during the period. Gains and
losses trom foreign currency translation are included in a separate account in stockholders” equity in the
consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses from foreign exchange transactions are included in the consolidated
statements of operations and have not been significant.

Stock-based Compensation:  Prior to fiscal 2007, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards to employces
using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) and its related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation expense was
recorded for stock options granted with exercise prices greater than or equal 1o the fair value of the underlying
common stock at the option grant date.

Effective the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS

No. I123R. Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R) requiring recognition of the cost of employee services received in
exchange for awards of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award rather than apply intrinsic
value measurement provisions of APB 25, See Note 10 for additional discussion.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards:  In February 2007. the Financial Accounting Standards Board {(FASB)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 159 (SFAS 159), The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which allows entities to choose to measure certain financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value (the “*fair value option™). The election is made on an instrument-by- instrument
basis and is irrevocable. If the fair value option is elected for an instrument. SFAS 159 specifies that all subsequent
changes in fair value for that instrument shall be reported in carnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years
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‘ beginning after November 15, 2007, which is the Company’s fiscal 2009. The Company will evaluate the impact on
our consolidated financial statements of adopting SFAS [59.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which clarifies that fair
vilue is the amount that would be exchanged 10 sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderty transaction between
market participants. Further, the standard establishes a framework for measuring fair value ir generally accepted
accounting principles and expands certain disclosures about fair valve measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within these fiscal years. The Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Cuwrtent Year Financial
Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on how prior year misstatements should be taken into
consideration when quantifying misstatemenis in current year financial statements for purpotes of determining
whether the current year's financial statements are materially misstated. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending
after November 15, 2006. The provisions of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the (Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued SFAS Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an
interpretation of SFAS No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48
requires companies to recognize the effect of a tax position in the financial statements if that position is more likely
than not sustainable on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions o FIN 48 are effective as
of the beginning of the Company’s fiscal year 2008, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle
recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. The Company is currently evaluating: the effect of adopting
FIN 48 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF) ratified the consensus on EITF lssu¢: No. 06-3, “How Taxes
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income
Statement” (EITF 06-3). EITF 06-3 requires that companies disclose their accounting policy regarding the gross or
net presentation of certain taxes. Taxes within the scope of EITF (06-3 are any tax assessed by a governmental
authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a ;ustomer and may
include, but are not limited to, sales, use, value added and some excise taxes, In addition, it such taxes are
significant, and are presented on a gross basis, the amounts of those taxes should be disclosed. EITF 06-3 was
effective for the Company’s fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. There was no impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, The Company’s policy is generally to record taxes within the scope of 1ZITF 06-3 on a net
basis.

Note 2: Short-term Investments

Short-term investments at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 consisted of the following:

Gross Gross -Estirnated
(in thousands) Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Vilue
2007
LS. government and municipalities  § 38,953 3 15 S (46) § 33922
Corporate notes and bonds 15,235 4 (14) 13,225 |
Other debt securities 25,544 I (49) 23,506

Foreign debt issues — — —_ =
$ 79.732 3 30 $__(109) S$_72.653

2006

U.S. government and municipalities $ 41,911 $ — $ (322) $ 41,589

Corporate notes and bonds 10,750 — (61) 1,689 .
Other debt securities 26,713 —_— (200) 26,513 i
Foreign debt issues 504 — (2) 502

$_79878 $___— §_(585) S_79.293
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The maturities of short-term investments at March 30, 2007 are as follows:

(in thousands) Amortized Estimated
Cost Market Value
Due within one year $ 19,532 $ 19,499
Due within one to five years 55.529 55.507
Due within five to ten years 1,635 1,634
Due aflter ten years 3.036 3.013
Total $ 79,732 A 79.653

A otal of $53.000 and $170,000 of unrealized loss positions for short-term investments held twelve months or more
existed at March 30, 2007 and March 31. 2000, respectively.

Note 3. License and Development Agreement

In October 2005, the Company entered into a license and development agreement with a third-party technology
supplier. The Company’s President and CEO is a member of the board of directors of the supplier. Under the
agreement, the Company acquired a license to the supplier’s high-speed networking platform, and each party will
perform development and other activities to bring new products to market. The Company has paid $3.0 million in
buse license fees and development fees as of March 30. 2007, which has been capitalized in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company recorded amortization of $300,000 in fiscal 2007 when
sales of the platform began. No amortization was recorded in fiscal 2006. The agreement also requires the Company
to pay royalties on sales of the platform. Such royalties amounted 1o $398,000 in fiscal 2007 and none in fiscal 2006,

In addition to the licensing and development provisions, the supplier serves as a reseller of the platform and the
parties have made occasional purchases and sales to each other of inventory components and pre-production units.
In connection with these arrangements, the Company invoiced the supplier $813,000 and made purchases from the
supplier of $33.000 in fiscal 2007. At March 30. 2007, the Company had outstanding invoices of $104.000 issued to
the supplier and had no amounts due to the supplier. As with a portion ol the amounts invoiced in fiscal 2007, the
Company expects the current amounts due from the supplier to be offset by royalty obligations. No amounts were
due to or from the supplier at March 31, 2006.

Note 4. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 were as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006

Accrued compensation $ 4733 $ 372
Uncarned income 2,424 2,669
Accrued rent 1,393 1,524
Restructure and other costs 2,964 1.520
Contract reserves 1,195 710
Other 2,565 2,943

$ 15274 5 13,092

The Company’s current contract with the General Services Administration (GSA) has been extended through June
27, 2007 while it is up for renewal for a multi-year period. pending agreement on new pricing and other terms. As
part of the renewal process, the government performed a limited post-award review of our sales data, which
identified a number of possible discrepancies regarding the Company’s compliance with the current contract. The
Company. with the assistance of special counsel and special accounting consultants, conducted an internal review of
the Company’s contracting practices from January 2000 to December 2005. The internal review. which was
completed in May 2006, identified potential issues regarding the interpretation and application of the price reduction
and billing provisions of the GSA contract, including, as a minority of the issucs. miscellaneous billing crrors such
as failure to implement a price reduction. Based on industry practice. the Company views the GSA award review
process similar 1o audits performed by other governmental agencies, where potential issucs with respect to the
interpretation and application of laws and regulations are settled through negotiation. In May 2007, the Company
offered and the GSA accepted a settlement of $795,000 for liabilities during the review period. This amount was
accrued and included in its contract reserves liability at March 31, 2007. Based upon the result of the internal
review, the Company had estimated this lability o be $700,000 at March 31, 2006.

39




See also Note 6 for activity in the liability for restructuring.

Note 5. Warraniy Accruals

The Company warrants hardware product and software generally for twelve months. The sof.ware warranty entitles
the customer to bug fixes but not sofiware upgrades during the warranty period. The Company’s methodology is to
accrue warranty expense based on historical expense trends calculated as a percentage of product sales. Actual
expenses are charged against the acerual in the period they are incurred. On a quarterly basis, the warranty accrual is
analyzed for adequacy based on actual trends and subsequent adjustments are made as necessary.

Components of the warranty accrual, which is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, during fiscal 2003, 2006, and 2007 were as follows:

. o Warranty
(in thousands) Accrual
Balance at March 26, 2004 $ i71
Charges to cost of goods sold 171
Charges to warranty accrual (214)
Other adjustments (1) 40)
Balance at March 25, 2005 88
Charges to cost of goods sold 139
Charges to warranty accrual (250)
Other adjustments (1) 107
Balance at March 31, 2006 84
Charges to cost of goods sold 185
Charges to warranty accrual (120)
Other adjusiments (1) (87) |
Balance at March 30, 2007 $ 02 I

(1) Adjustment resulted from a change in warranty cost estimates primarily from lower hourly costs of labor to
repair products and frequency of warranty claims.

|
Note 6. Restructure and Other i

Restructure and other costs of $10.2 million in fiscal 2007 consist of $10.1 million for the cost to vacate the
Company’s former manufacturing facility, of which $5.4 million related to a loss on fixed assets, primarily leasehold
improvements that were installed in this facility, and $115,000 of employee separation costs. Of the total amount of
restructure and other costs in fiscal 2007, the remaining liability at March 30, 2007 is $4.7 inillion.

Restructure and other costs of $2.9 million in fiscal 2006 consisted mainly of $3.0 million for employee separation
costs resulting from reductions in the international sales and service organization and cost-cutting efforts across all
functions. of which $1.1 million related to the severance agreement executed with the Company’s former chief
executive officer, and $135,000 for terminating a contract for employee training. These amounts were offset by
reversals of $204,000 resulting from expiration of employee benefits accrued for previous restructurings and
$26,000 related to the sublease of the Dallas, Texas office necessitating an adjustment to previous lease restructuring
estimates. Of the total amount of restructure and other costs in fiscal 2006, the amount included in accrued liabilities
at March 30, 2007 is $367,000.

Restructure and other costs of $4.0 million in fiscal 2005 included employee scparation cosits of $3.6 million and
facility exit costs of $705,000. offset by a benefit of $246,000. The employee separation costs resulted from two
separate recrganizations of the Company’s international sales organization in the first and “hird quarters of fiscal
2003, the second of which also involved research and development and other areas of the Company. The facility exit
costs resufted from a conselidation of sales and service offices in Virginia and closure of the research and design
facility in Ottawa, Canada. The benefit of $246,000 resulted from $205,000 due to expiration of certain employee
benefits from previous restructurings and $41,000 due to adjustments to our previous lease restructuring estimates.
Of the total amount of restructure and other costs in fiscal 2003, the amount included in accrued liabilities at March
30, 2007 is $10,000.
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The liubility for restructuring was $5.2 million at March 30, 2007, as shown in the table below. Components of
accrued restructure costs and changes in accrued amounts related to these restructuring programs during fiscal 2005,
2006, and 2007 are as follows:

) Employee
(in thousands) Separation Facility Exit
Costs & Other Costs & Other Total

Balance at March 26, 2004 3 229 $ 425 $ 654
Provision 3.58% 705 4,293
Benefit (205) 41 (246)
Payments (2,731 (910) (3.647)
Other (1) (245) €2 (254)

Balance at March 25, 2005 630 170 800
Provision 3.016 135 3.151
Benefit {204) (26) (230)
Payments (1,790 (109 (1,899)
Other (1) (115) — (115)

Balance at March 31, 2006 1.537 170 1.707
Provision (2) 174 4,629 4,803
Benefit (39) )] (68)
Payments (1.088) {(126) (1.214)

Balance at March 30, 2007 $ 564 h) 4,664 $ 5.228

(N Consists of $269,000 and $115,000 in fiscal 2005 and 2006, respectively, of compensation expense for
stock options for former executives included in stockholders' equity, and in fiscal 2005, insignificant
reclassifications of opening balances between employee separation costs & other and facility exit costs
& other.

(2) Excludes $5.4 million of loss related to leaschold improvements of the vacated former manufacturing
facility. which. having occurred when vacated. are not accrued but charged directly 1o restructure and
other costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for
hiscal 2007.

The balance at March 30, 2007 includes $2.3 million classified as other long-term liabilities related to lease and
other exit costs for the vacated facility. net of an estimated amount of sublease income. The balance at March 31,
2006 includes $187.000 classified as other long-term liabitities, of which $142.000 related 1o the {iscal 2006
severance agreement with the Company™s former chief executive officer, und $45,000 related 1o future payments for
a terminated contract.
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Note 7. Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes and the benefit for income taxes consist of the following for fiscal 2007, 2006 und 2005:

. (in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
; Income (loss) before income taxes:
Domestic $ (16,886) 3 (29,704) $ (71715
Foreign 134 1,308 183
Total $ (16,702) $ (28,396) $__ (7,532)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current:
Federal h — b — b —
State 327) 6 15
Foreign (181) (1,167} (1,115}
(508) {1,161) __ (1,100}
Deferred:
Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign — — . -

$ {508y § (1.161) $:__ (1,100)

The benefit for income taxes reconciles to the amount computed by applying the statutory United States federal rate
of 35% to income before income taxes as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Statutory federal tax provision $ (5846) § (9.939) % (2.636)
Foreign tax rate differential (55) (431) (16)
Reconcile prior year loss carry forwards

Foreign (680) — —

State (799) — —
Research and development, and manufacturers’

investment credits 1,048 (187) (283)

Change in valuation allowance 6.574 10,521 2,921
Release of tax contingency reserve (524) (1,193) (1,164)
Other (226) 68 _ 78
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 508) % (1,161) $_ (1,100)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at March 30, 2007 and Marzh 31, 2006:

(in thousands) 2007 2006
Gross deferred tax assets:
Allowances not currently deductible for

tax purposes $ 5410 $ 4,595

Loss carryforwards 49,960 45,722

Credit carryforwards 19,143 19,882

l Depreciation 6,908 4,648

| Gross deferred tax assets 81,421 74,847
Valuation allowance (81.,421) (74,847)

Net deferred tax assets $ — 3 —

The valuation allowance increased $6.6 million and $10.5 million in fiscal 2007 and 2005 respectively. The
Company’s operating loss carryforwards and credits, which have been offset by the valuation allowance, include
$4.8 million of deferred tax benefits associated with stock-based compensation, which wiil be credited 1o additional
paid-in-capital when realized. The changes in the valuation allowance resulted from an evaluation by the Company
| of the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realization of its delerred tax assets. Under applicable

42




accounting standards. considering the history of losses. the Company concluded that it was appropriate to fully
provide for the net deferred tax assers.

The Company considers all undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries to be permanently invested in foreign
operations. Accordingly, no deferred tax assets or liabilities have been established in this regard.

The Company has incurred tax losses in the last several fiscal years and. at March 30. 2007, has approximately
$126.1 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $36.2 million of state operating loss carryforwards
available expiring in the years 2013 through 2027. Currently. the Company belicves that it is more likely than not
that the net deferred tax asset will not be realized and therelore has recorded a valuation allowance for the entire
balance. In future yeurs, these benefits are available 1o reduce or eliminate taxes on future taxable income. Current
federal and state tax laws include provisions that could limit the annual use of the net operating loss carryforwards in
the event of certain defined changes in stock ownership. Issuances of common and preferred stock could result in
such a change. Accordingly. the unnual use of the net operating loss carryforwards may be limited by these
provisions, and this hmitation may result in the loss of carryforward benefits 10 the extent the above-limit portion
expires before it can be used. The Company has not yet determined the extent of the limitation. if any.

As of March 30. 2007, the Company has available federat rescarch and development wax credit carryforwards of
approximately $7.1 million expiring in the years 2008 through 2027 and alternative minimum tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $2.5 million available indefinitely. At March 30, 2007, state research and
development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $13.0 million are also available indefinitely.

Note 8. Financing Arrangements

The Company entered into a Business Loan Agreement and Security Agreement (Receivables) with Bank of
America in liscal 2005. The agreement. which has been renewed through October 2007 at substantially the same
terms, provides for a $7.0 million line of credit. The line is availuble both for cash advances and for standby letters
of credit and bears interest at the bank's prime rate tor cash advances and at prime minus % for letters of credit
(7.25% at March 30, 2007). The line is secured by the Company’s accounts receivable. The agreement requires
immediate repayment of all amounts outstanding if the Company’s cash balance, defined as the sum of unrestricted
cash and short and long term investments, declines more than $10.0 million during a quarter or $30.0 million during
the preceding twelve months. As of March 30, 2007, $3.0 million in letiers of credit were outstanding.

Note 9: Contractual Obligations and Commercial Contingencies

Redeemable Convertible Subordinated Debentures:  [n May 1989, the Company issued $75.0 million of 7 1/4%
convertible subordinatled debenwres due May 15, 2014, in an underwritten public offering, with net proceeds of
$72.8 million. Each debenture is convertible at the option of the holder into common stock at $31.50 per share and is
redeemable at the option of the Company. The debentures are entitled to a sinking fund which began May 15, 2000,
of $3.8 million annually, calculated to retire 70% of the debentures prior to maturity. Any redemption or conversion
of the debentures prior to the date of the sinking fund payment will reduce those payments. Previous redemptions
have satisfied the sinking fund requirement through May 15, 2012.

As a result of repurchases. partial calls and conversions during fiscal 1991 through 1999, the outstanding balance of
the debentures was $24.7 million at March 30. 2007. The Company did not repurchase any of its debentures in fiscal
2007, 2006 or 2005, See ulso Note 16 Financial Instruments Fair Value Disclosure.

Operating Leases:  The Company leases its facilities under operating leases. The minimum future lease
commitments for future fiscal years under these leases as of March 30, 2007, were as follows:

{in thousands) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total
$4.200 $3900  $3844 34026 $2.860  §18.830

Less income from subleases (163)

Net minimum operating lease payments $18.667

Rental expense under operating leases was $4.0 million, $5.0 million and $5.5 million for tiscal 2007, 2006 und
2003, respectively.

Included in the operating lease amounts are payments on our vacated facilities in Fremont and Canada, of which
$3.9 million, representing the discounted value of the lease puyments, net of assumed sublease income. is accrued in
our restructure liability at March 30, 2007; see also Note 6 Restructure and Other.
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Contingencies: The Company enlers into agreements from time to time that require it to indemnify the other party

against third party claims. These agreements are primarily: (i) agreements with the Company’s officers and directors.

under which the Company may be required to indemnify such persons for liabilitics arising out of their duties to the
Company and (ii) agreements with customers or alliance partners under which the Company may be required to
indemnify them for claims such as those arising from intellectual property infringement, personal injury, or non-
performance under the agreement. Because the amount of the obligation in these types of agreements often is not
explicitly stated, it is not possible to estimate the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company might
be required to make under these indemnity agreements, and no liability has been recorded for such obligations at
March 30, 2007. Costs incurred to date related to claims under such indemnification provisions have not been
significant.

License and Development Agreement: Sce Note 3.
Product warranty: See Note 5.
Restructure: See Note 6.

Litigation: See Note 18.

Note 10. Stock-based Compensation

Stock Option and Award Plans: The Company grants options to purchase shares of its coramon stock and is
authorized to award restricted shares of common stock pursuant to the terms of its 1993 Stock Option Plan and 1997
Stock Option Program (collectively “option plans™). Stock options generally become cxercisable ratably over a four-
year period and expire after seven to ten years. Options may be granted to officers, employeus, directors and
independent contractors to purchase common stock at a price not less than 100% of the fair inarket value at the date
of grant.

Restricted stock awards granted under the stock option plans are independent of option gran's and are subject to
restrictions. During fiscal 2007, the Company granted 285,600 shares of restricted stock, which included 2,500
shares granted (o a non-employee. No restricted stock was granted in fiscal 2006 or 2005. All shares of restricted
stock are subject to forfeiture if employment or services are terminated prior to the release of restrictions. which
occurs on a ratable basis over two years from the date of grant. Until the restriction is releas:d, the shares cannot be
transferred. These shares have the same cash dividend and voting rights as other common stock and are considered
as issued and outstanding. The cost of the awards, determined to be the fair market value of the shares at the date of
grant, is expensed ratably over the period the restrictions lapse.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP): Under the employee stock purchase plan, the Company’s employees,
subject to certain restrictions, could purchase shares of common stock at a price equal to at least 85% of the lower of
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the beginning of the offering period or the end of each
purchase period. The Company elected to indefinitely suspend its employee stock purchase plan in fiscal 2006. The
final purchase occurred on December 30, 2005.

Adoption of SFAS 123R:  Prior (o fiscal 2007, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards to employees
using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 and its related interpretations. Accordingly, no
compensation expense was recorded for stock options granted with exercise prices greater than or equal to the fair
value of the underlying common stock at the option grant date. Costs of restricted stock awards, if granted, would
have been determined to be the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant. The ESPP qualified as a non-
compensatory plan under APB 25; therefore, no compensation cost was recorded in relatio 1 to the discount offered
to employees for purchases made under the ESPP.

Effective the beginning of fiscal 2007, the Company adopted the fair value recognition pravisions of SFAS 123R,
requiring recognition of the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of cquity instruments based
on the grant-date fair value of the award rather than apply intrinsic value measurement provisions of APB 25. The
Company elected to use the modified prospective transition method as permitted by SFAS 123R and therefore has
not restated the financial results for prior periods. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense
for fiscal 2007 includes compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet
vested, as of the beginning of fiscal 2007, based on the grant date fair value estimated in a:cordance with the
original provisions of SFAS 123, as adjusted for estimated forfeitures. Stock-based compensation expense for all
stock-based compensation awards granted during fiscal 2007 is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Under SFAS 123R, the ESPP is considered a compensatory plan and
the Company is required to recognize compensation cost for grants made under the ESPP. However, since the ESPP
was indefinitely suspended in fiscal 2006, no significant compensation cxpense was recognized upon the adoption of
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SFAS 123R. The Company recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted
subsequent to fiscal 2006 on a straight-line basis over the respective requisite service period of the awards.
Compensation expense for share-based payment awards granted on or prior to March 31, 2006 but not vested as of
March 31, 2006, is recognized on an accelerated basis.

Stock Compensation Expense: The following table shows total stock-based compensation expense included in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations as a result of adopting SFAS 123R:

(in thousands)

2007
Cost of revenue $ 136
Sales and marketing 257
Research and development 285
General and administrative 534

$1.212

There was no significant stock-based compensation cost capitalized as part of inventory at March 3(h 2007. As
required by SFAS 123R, management made an estimate of expected forfeitures and is recognizing compensation
costs only for those equity awards expected to vest.

Determining Fair Value:

Valuation and Amortization Method: The Company estimated the fair value of stock options granted during fiscul
2007 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single option award approach. The fair value is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting
period.

Expected Term: The expected term of options granted is derived from the average midpoint between vesting and
the contractuad term, as described in the SEC's Stuff’ Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (SAB 107). The Company
believes this calculation provides a reasonable estimate of expecied life for stock—buased awards 10 employees.

Expected Volatilitv: The Company's computation of expected volaltility for the period ended March 30, 2007 is
based on historical volatility commensurate with the expected term of the options.

Risk-Free Interest Rate:  The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation method is based on the
implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury securities with an equivalent remaining term commensurate with
the expected term of the options,

Expected Dividend: The expected dividend assumption is bused on the Company’s current expectations about
future dividends. The Company does not expect to pay out cash dividends in the foresecable future.

The weighted average fair value of the Company’s stock option awards granted to employees was $3.25. §1.27, and

$2.57. respectively, for fiscal 2007. 2006, and 2005. and was estimated using the following weighted-average
assumptions:

2007 2006 2005
Expected term. in years 6.08 4.83 4.75
Expected volatility 63.54% I882% 522%%
Risk-free interest rate 4.64 % 411 % 339%

Expected dividends — — —

The weighted average fair value of the Company’s employee purchase rights under the Emplovee Stock Purchase
Plan was $1.17 and $2.37, respectively, for fiscal 2006 and 2005, and was estimated using the following weighied-
average assumptions:

2006 2008
Expected term, in years 0.33 0.33
Expecied volatility 36.12% 5521 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.08 % 335%

Expected dividends — —
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At March 30, 2007, the total compensation cost related to unvested stock-based awards not yet recognized, net of
estimated forfeitures, was approximately $2.8 million. The weighted-average period during which the cost will be
amortized, which will be adjusted for subsequent changes in estimated forfeitures, was appror.imately 2.3 years.

Stock Options & Awards Activity:  Activity in the Company’s option plans is summarized below:

Number
Vested and
Weighted Weighted Expected to  Weighted
Average Average vest at Average
Exercise =~ Number  Exercise March 30,  Exercise
Shares Price  Exercisable  Price 2007 Price
Options owtstanding at March 26, 2004 6,851,254 § 7.78 4520461 § 8.69
Granted 1,397,749  § 7.38
Exercised (576,008} $ 4.3
Forfeited and expired (848,895} $ 7.79
Options outstanding at March 25, 2005 6,824,100 $ 7.97 4955680 $ 837
Granted 1.546,650 % 4.64
Exercised (245,053) & 3.62
Forfeited and expired {1,877,635) § 8.20
Options outstanding at March 31, 2006 6,248,062 § 7.25 5254941 $ 7172
Granted 936,600 $ 5.23
Exercised (680617) $ 5.14
Forfeited and expired {947,105) $ 876
Options outstanding at March 30, 2007 5,556,940 § 691 4,179,792 § 7.52 5,300,063 $ 699

At March 30, 2007:
Weighted average remaining
contractual term (in years) 5.90 481 5.73

Aggregate intrinsic value (in
thousands) $16,480 $10.055 $15,316

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and
the quoted price of the Company’s common stock at March 30, 2007, for options outstanding as of that date.
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The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding and exercisable as of March 30, 2007:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Averuge
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Range of Shares Contractual Lifc  Average Shares Average
Exercise Prices Quistanding {(Years) Exercise Price Exercisable  Excrcise Price
$ 277 -% 3.52 603,583 7.09 $ 319 292,615 $ 328
$ 361 -3 460 558,357 7.39 $ 423 355.927 $ 426
$ 462 -3 470 603.322 8.37 $ 4.69 347427 § 409
$ 475 -% 579 649.892 7.48 $ 545 345.618 $ 551
$ 590 -% 691 637,249 7.13 $ o667 579.548 $ o672
$ 694 -3 831 559,423 6.47 $ 7.69 386,488 § 783
$ 834 -3 925 587.751 3.82 $ 878 539 406 $ 878
$ 926 -% 1000 603.370 3.59 $ 959 578.770 $  9.60
$ 1006 -5 11.40 558,953 3.04 $ 1028 558.953 $ 10.28
$11.50 -3 21.75 195,040 0.96 $ 1272 195,040 $ 1272
$ 277 -8%21.75 5,556,940 5.90 § 691 4,179.792 $ 752
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Restricted Stock Awards: Shares Fair Value
Nonvested stock at March 31, 2006 — S —
Granted 285.600 326
Vested (104.689) 3.23
Forfeited and cancelled (13.376) 3.22

Nonvested stock at March 30, 2007 167,535 $ 328

During fiscal 2007, 40,000 shares of restricted stock were delivered to the Company in payment of $245.000 of
withholding tax obligations arising from the vesting of restricted stock awards. The withholding tax obligations were

based upon the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the vesting dale.

Pro-forina Disclosures:  The following wble illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share as if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 10 stock-based compensation during fiscal

2006 and 200)5:

(in thousands. except per share amounts)

Net loss — as reported $
Add: Stock bused employee compensation included in reported net loss
Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined by the fair value method

Nel loss — pro forma b
Basic and diluted net loss per share — as reported ¥
Basic and diluted net loss per share — pro forma 3

2006
(27,235)
1S

(2.346)
(29.466)

(1.10)
(1.19)

2005
$ (6.432)
269
(3.343)
§_9.506)
$  (0.26)
$ (039)

Far purposes of this pro forma disclosure. the value of the options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing formula and a multiple option award approach and was amortized on an accelerated basis over the respective

vesting periods of the awards, with forfeitures recognized as they occurred.

Note 1. Capital Stock

Stock Repurchase Plan:  In liscal 2006, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase plan which continued
for up to twenty-four months. As of March 31, 2006, the Company had repurchased 737,000 shares at an average

47




o

price of $5.00 per share. No shares were repurchased during fiscal 2007, and the program expired on March 30,
2007.
Note 12. Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of the numerator and denominator used in the computation of basic
and diluted net loss per share:

{(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005
Numerator:
Net loss $(16,194)  § (27,235) 3§ (6,432)

Denominator:

Weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding, basic and diluted 25,003 24,725 24,531

Net loss per share, basic and diluted §  (0.65) $  (1.10) $ (0.26)

The denominator for basic net loss per share is the weighted average number of unrestricted common shares
outstanding for the periods presented. In periods of net income, the denominator for diluted net income per share
also includes potentially dilutive shares, which consist of shares issuable upon the exercise ot dilutive stock options,
shares subject to repurchase, and contingently issuable shares. In periods of net loss, these shares are excluded from
the computations of diluted net loss per share as they are anti-dilutive and reduce the loss per share. Polentially
dilutive shares totaled 348,000, 251,000, and 1,183,000, respectively. for fiscal 2007, 20006, <nd 2005,

There are 784,000 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of debentures. These stares and the related
effect of the accrued interest on the debentures are excluded from the calculation of dituted lnss per share for each
period presented, as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 13: Significant Customers

In fiscal 2007, EDO Corporation and General Dynamics (both government systems integrators) accounted for 21.6%
and 13.2%, respectively, of the Company’s revenue. In fiscal 2006, NATO accounted for 10.7% of the Company’s
revenue. In fiscal 2005, NATO and General Dynamics accounted for 13.5% and 11%. respectively, of the
Company’s revenue. Excluding aggregate orders from a variety of government agencies, no other single customer
accounted for more than ten percent of the Company’s revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006, or 200=.

Sales to the government sector represented 91.1%, 86.1%, and 86.6% of the Company’s revenue in fiscal 2007,
2006, and 2003, respectively.
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Note 14: Segment Information

The Company operates in one reportable segment: the design, development, manufacture and sale of voice and data
telecommunications equipment tor multi-service networks and associated services used by government
organizations, enterprises, and carriers worldwide. The Company follows the requirements of SFAS 131,
Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. Following is operating information by
geographic territory for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005:

{in thousands) United ()the.r e . -

States Europe International  Eliminations Totals

2007
Product $ 67.931 $ 3957 % 925 $ — $ 72813
Service and other 9.062 1.914 305 — 11,281
Total revenue $ 76,993 $ 5871 % 1.230 $ — $ 84,094
Long-lived assets $ 15342 $ 10 % 46 $ 27y $ 15371

2006
Product $ 49881 $§ 5849 § 982 $ — $ 56712
Service and other 10.508 2.159 389 — 13.056
Total revenue $ 60,389 § 8008 3 1.371 $ — $ 69.768
Long-lived assets $ 25.013 $ 40 % 96 $ (32) $ 25117

2005
Product $ 87.405 $ 6945 3 2376 $ — $ 96,726
Service and other 13.508 3478 506 — 17.492
Total revenue $100.913 $ 10423 % 2,882 5 — 5114218
Long-lived assets $ 28613 $ 261§ 128 b 61) $ 28941

In fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, the Company’s Promina products accounted for 70.8%. 77.7%. and §1.2% of
product revenue, respectively. In fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005. the VX Series and predecessor products accounted for
20.0%. 8.0%. and 3.8% of product revenue, respectively. All other products accounted for less than 10% of product
revenue, individually and in the aggregate, for all years presented.

Note 15: Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan, whereby cligible employees may contribute a
percentage of their eligible compensation. Compuny contributions are discretionary: including administrative fees,
Company expense was $569,000, $475.000 and $409.000 for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 16: Financial Instruments Fair Value Disclosure

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial tnstruments at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 werce as
follows:

(in thousands} 2007 2006
Carrying Estimated Cuarrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assels:
Short-term investments $  79.653 $  79.653 $ 79.293 $ 79.293
Liabilities:

Convertible subordinated debentures  $ 24.706 $ 22,699 $ 24,706 $ 21494

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:
Short-termn investments:  Fuir vulues are based on quoted market prices. Sce Note 2.

Redeemable convertible subordinated debentures:  Fair values are based on quoted market prices from sales near
to the end of the reported period. See Note 9,

The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. Where availuble, the
Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain balance sheet exposures and intercompany
balances against future movement in foreign exchange rates, Gains and losses on the foreign exchange contracts are
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included in interest and other income, net, which offset foreign exchange gains or tosse:: from revaluation of foreign
currency-denominated balance sheet items and intercompany batances.

The foreign exchange forward contracts require the Company to exchange foreign currencies to U.S. dollars or vice
versa, and generally mature in one month or less. As of March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, the Company had
outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts with aggregate notional amounts of $6.9 million and $5.3 million,
respectively, which had remaining maturities of one month or less. As of March 30, 2007, the carrying amount,
which was also the estimated fair value of the foreign exchange forward contracts, is based on prevailing financial
market information.

Note 17; Sale of N.E.T. Federal, Inc.’s Service Business

On December 1, 2000, the Company sold the assets of its Federal Services Business to CACI International Inc.
{CACI) for cash consideration of $40.0 million. The assets sold were comprised mainly of service contracts,
accounts receivable, spares inventory and fixed assets. In fiscal 2005, the Company rec zived the final payment for
the transaction and recorded a gain of $1.5 mitlion related 1o the sale. Under an agreem:nt with CACI, the Company
received royalties on maintenance revenue. Royalties received under this agreement were $367,000 and $478,000,
respectively, for fiscal 2006 and 2005. The royalty clause of the agreement expired in December 2005 and no further
royalties were received.

Note 18: Litigation

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings from time to time that are consi fered normal to its business.
While it is not feasible to predict the ultimate outcome of such proceedings, the Compzny believes that the ultimate
outcome of such proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Section
13(a) or Section 15(d), management, under the supervision and with the participation of the chief executive officer
(CEO) and chief financial officer (CFQ). carricd out a review and evaluation of the eflfectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures at the end of the period covered by this annual report. Our management, including our CEO
and CFO, has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of March 30, 2007.

We intend to review and evaluate the design and effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures on an
ongoing basis und correct any deficiencies that we may discover in the future. Our goal is o ensure that our senior
management has timely access to all material financial and non-financial information concerning our business.
While we helieve the present design of our disclosure controls and procedures is effective to achieve our goal. future
events aflecting our business may cause us to significantly modify our disclosure controls and procedures.

{b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining udequate internal control over financial reperting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed 10
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. However,
all internal control systems, no matter how well conceived and implemented, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined Lo be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and reporting, Under the supervision and with the partictpation of our management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting bused on the framework in Internal Control—integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgunizations of the Treadway Commussion. Based on our evaluation under the
ramework in Internal Control—Integrated Framewaork, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of March 30, 2007.

Our munagement's assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 30,
2007 has been audited by Deloiue & Touche LLP. an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its
report which is included herein.

{¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended March 30, 2007 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially aftect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Network Equipment Technologies, Inc.
Fremont, California

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Network Equipment Technelogies, Inc. a1d subsidiaries (the
"Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 3(), 2007, based on criteria
established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rez sonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal conirol, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our udit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected
by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for exterral purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial stalements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal contrel over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of th: internal control over
financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degrec of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective intern¢l control over financial
reporting as of March 30, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the crit:ria established in fnternal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations >f the Treadway
Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effzctive internal control over
financial reporting as of March 30, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrared
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related statement of opera:ions and comprehensive
loss, stock holders equity, cash flows and the financial statement schedule of the Company as of and for the year
ended March 30, 2007 of the Company and our report dated May 25, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Pa:yment.”

5/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
May 25, 2007
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 21, 2007, the Board of Directors established a special committee for the purpose of authorizing decisions
and actions regarding our former manufacturing facility in Fremont, California. On March 29, 2007, the special
committee determined that the Company had ceased its use of the facility and had no intention for any future use. As
aresult, the Company incurred a restructure charge of $10.1 million for the estimated future net costs of the unused
facility. In determining the amount of the charge, certain estimates were made, including future sublease rents to be
received, future rent increases to be paid to the current landlord, and future operating costs.

On May 1, 2007, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved guidelings for discretionary
bonuses to employees for performance during fiscal 2008, other than employees on a sales commission plan. The
guidelines for potential bonuses are based on the Company achieving or exceeding financial targets for revenue,
operating income, and cash. Any bonuses would also be dependent on satisfactory individual performance. Under
the guidelines, the amount of bonus is to be determined as a percentage of base salary, with the percentage
depending on the level of the employee’s position. No bortus is to be paid unless the Company achieves at least 97%
of the target for annual revenue, at least 60% of the target for annual operating income, and at least 97% of the target
for cash balances at year end. At that level of minimum required performance, the guidelines provide for bonuses for
the Chief Executive Officer, the Chicf Financial Officer, and other executive ofticers of 30%, 20%, and 15%
respectively, of base salary. If the Company were to meet all three targets (achieving at least 100% of each
individual target). the bonuses for the Chiefl Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and other executive
officers would be, respectively, 55%, 35%, and 30% of base salary. The bonus amounts under the guidelines
continue to increase with higher levels of performance. At the highest level ol performance set forth in the
guidelines (at least 109% of the target for annual revenue, at Icast 212% of the target for annual operating income,
and at least [06% of the target for cash balances at year end). the bonuses for the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Financial Officer. and other executive officers would be, respectively, 85%. 55%, and 45% of base salary.

The salaries of the Company's executive officers were increased effective April 1, 2007. The new base salary for C.
Nicholas Keating, Jr., President and CEQ, is $415,000; the new base salary for John F, McGrath, Jr., Vice President
and CFO. is $275.,000; the new base salary for Gary Lau, Sr. Vice President, Government Sales, is $205.000; the
new base salary for Talbot Harty, Vice President and General Manager, Voice and Mobility Solutions, is $250.000;
and the new base salary for Frank Slattery. Vice President and General Counsel, is $225,000. The Company's
executive officers other than Mr. Lau, who is on a sales commission plan, received discretionary cash bonuses on
May 4, 2007 in the amouats of $40,000 for Mr. Keating, $26,500 for Mr. McGrath, $24,000 for Mr. Harty. and
$21,500 for Mr. Slattery,

PART III

Certain information required by Part 11f is omitted from this Form 10-K because N.E.T. will file its definitive proxy
statlement (“Proxy Statement”) pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of its fiscal year covered
by this Report, and certain information included in the Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference into this

Part T11.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding N.E.T."s directors, audit committees and audit committee financial experts is contained in the
Proxy Statement in the sections captioned “Directors”, “Director Nomination”, “Board Committees and Meetings™
and “Director Independence:; Financial Experts” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information concerning compliance hy officers, directors and 10% shareholders of the Company with Section 16 of
the Exchange Act of 1934 is contained in the Proxy Statement in the section entitled “Compliance with Section
16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Executive Officers

The executive officers of N.E.T. and their ages at May 25, 2007 are as foliows:

Name Age Position

C. Nicholas Keating, JIr. 63 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Talbot A. Harty 43 Vice President and General Manager, Voice and Mobility Solutions
Gary L. Lau 58 Senior Vice President, Government Sales

John F. MicGrath, Jr. 42 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Frank Slattery 46 Vice President and General Counsel

C. Nicholas Keating, Jr. was appointed as the Company’s President and CEQ, in July 201)5. He has been a Director
of the Company since November 2001. From October 2000 until February 2004, he served as President and CEO of
1P Infusion Tnc. and served on its Board of Directors untif early 2005. In 1999 Mr. Keatir g became President and
CEOQ of US Search.com, a web-based provider of on-line information services to corporate and professional users,
From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Keating was an advisor to a number of worldwide organizations From 1987 to 1993, Mr.
Keating was a Vice President and corporate officer of N.E.T. Mr. Keating serves on the Board of Directors of
Foundry Networks and two privately held companies. He is also a Trustee of the Asian Art Museum of San
Francisco. He received his BA and MA from American University and was a Fulbright scholar.

Talbot A. Harry joined N.E.T in November 2003 and assumed the role of Vice President and General Manager,
Voice and Mobility Solutions in Qctober 2005. He previously served as Sr. Director of tte Company’s Information
Technology organization. From 2002 until he joined N.E.T., Mr. Harty was Vice Presideat of Product Development
at Perfect Commerce, a provider of on-demand supplier relationship management selutions. From 2000 to 2001, he
served as Vice President of Product Marketing at Mobileum (now Roamware), a provide. of value-added voice and
data roaming services. Prior to that, Mr. Harty held senior positions in information technology, operations, and
research and development at a number of high-technology companies. He also sits on technology advisory boards
for a number of start-up companies.

Gary L. Lau joined N.E.T. Federal, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of N.E.T., in 1987, and was appointed Sr. Vice
President, Government Sales in March 2005. Before his recent appointment, Mr, Lau served as Sr. Vice President,
Worldwide Sales and Service. He is also President of N.E.T. Federal, Inc. Mr. Lau served in the U.S. Air Force for
over 20 years, including service at Strategic Air Command (SAC), Military Airlift Command (MAC}) and
Headquarters Air Force at the Pentagon. His last tour of duty was at the White House Communication Agency
(WHCA), where he served as the Chief of Network Plans and Engineering responsible fcr the architecture and
implementation of their fixed ground and deployed communications network in support of the President of the
United States, Vice President of the United States, and Senior White House Staff.

John F. McGrath, Jr. joined N.E.T. in November 2001 as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to
joining N.E.T., Mr. McGrath served in various financial capacities at Aspect Communic: tions, a developer of
hardware and software solutions for customer contact centers, beginning in 1997. His positions with Aspect
Communications included Vice President of Finance and Director of Finance for Europe. Middle East, and Africa.
Prior to that, he was Director of Finance for TCSI Corporation (a former Teknekron Company). From 1986 to 1991,
Mr, McGrath worked as a Manager in the High Technology/Manufacturing Group at Ernst & Young. Mr. McGrath
holds an MBA from the Stanford Graduate School of Business and a B.S. in accounting {rom the University of
Wyoming. He is a registered CPA in the state of California. Mr. McGrath is a member of the Board of Dircetors of
Endwave Corporation and a member of the Board of Trustees for The Presidio Fund, a publicly traded mutual fund.

Frank Stattery joined N.E.T. as General Counsel in February 2003. From 2000 to 2002, IMr. Slattery was Vice
President of Business Development and General Counse! for SiteSmith, a provider of Intzmet infrastructure
services, which was acquired by Metromedia Fiber Networks. From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Slattery was a Partner and
General Counsel for USWeb Corporation, a global web consulting firm. From 1994 to 1498, Mr. Slattery was Vice
President of Business Development and General Counsel for ParcPlace Systems, a provider of object-oriented
software development tools. For the five years before that, he was an associate at the law firm of

Wilscn, Sonsini, Goodrich & Rosati.

Code of Ethics

Our Code of Business Conduct, which covers all directors and employees (including the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Controller), meets the requirements of the SEC Rules promulgated under Section 406 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for a code of ethics. The Code of Business Conduct is available free of charge on
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our Internet website located at www.net.com. In addition, uny stockholder who wishes (o obtain a printed copy of
the Code of Business Conduct should write 10: Investor Relations, N.E.T., 6900 Paseo Padre Parkway, Fremont,
California 94555-3660. Since adoption of the Code of Business Conduct, our Board has not granted a waiver of any
of its provisions for any director or executive officer. Any future waivers or amendments will be disclosed on our
Internet website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding compensation of N.E.T. s Directors and Executive Officers is contained in the Proxy
Statement in the sections captioned “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation and Related
Information™ and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners und management is contained in the Proxy
Statement in the section captioned “Stock Ownership of Five Percent Stockholders, Directors. and Executive
Officers™ and is incorporated herein by relerence.

[nformation regurding equity compensation plans is contained in the Proxy Statement in the section captioned
“Equity Compensation Plan Information™ and is incorporated hercin by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

[nformation regarding transactions with N.E.T.’s Directors and Executive Otficers is contained in the Proxy
Statement 1n the section captioned “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ and is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is contained in the Proxy Statement in the section
captioned “Relationship With [ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” which is incorporated herein by
reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 31
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 32
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended

March 30, 2007. March 31, 2006 and March 25. 2005 33
Consolidated Statements of Cush Flows for the years ended
March 30. 2007, March 31, 2006 and March 25, 2005 34
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders™ Equity for the years ended
March 30, 2007. March 31, 2006 and March 25, 2005 35
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 36
2. Index 1o Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
Page
Schedule 11 - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 59

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required. are not applicable, or the information is included in
the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

Separate financial statements of the Registrant are omitted because the Registrant is primarily an operating company
and all subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial stalements filed. in the aggregate, do not have a minerity
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equity interest and/or long-term indebtedness to any person outside the consolidated group in an amount which
together exceeds 5% of total consolidated assets at March 30, 2007.

3. Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description
3.1 Registrant’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.,
32 Registrant’s Bylaws, as amended.
4.1 Indenture dated as of May 13, 1989 between Registrant and Morgan Guaranty Trust
Company of New York.
4.2 Rights Agreement dated as of August t5, 1989 between Registrant and Ec uiserve,
formerly The First National Bank of Boston, as amended.
4.2A Amendment 3, dated October 2, 2002, to the Rights Agreement filed as E:thibit 4.2,
above.
43 Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock filed with
the Secretary of State of Delaware on August 24, 1989 (Exhibit 4.1 in the Registrant’s
Form $-8 Registration Statement).
10.1 Asset Acquisition Agreement dated October 18, 2000, by and among
CACI, Inc.-Federal, CACI International Inc, N.E.T. Federal, Inc., and Neiwork
Equipment Technologies, Inc. (as Exhibit 10}.
10.14 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement as signed by all Directors ot the
Company.
10.15 Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement as signed by atl Executive O ficers of the
Company.
10.23 Headquarters Facilities — Lease between Ardenwood Corporate Park Associates and
Network Equipment Technologies, Inc. dated December 21, 2000,
10.31% Registrant’s Amended and Restated 1993 Stock Option Plan, as amended May 16,
2003.
10.32 Registrant’s Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Program, as amended April 16,
2002 (as Exhibit 99.8).
10.33* Registrant’s 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended May 16, 2003.
10.34* 2002 N.E.T. Europe Ltd. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as Exhibir 99.3).
10.36 Business Loan Agreement and Security Agreement (Receivables) dated Iovember 29,
2004, between the Company and Bank of America N.A.
10.36A Amendment 1, executed October 18, 2005, to Business Loan Agreement and Security
Agreement {Receivables) between the Company and Bank of America N A.
10.36B  Amendment 2, executed effective October 27, 2006. to Business Loan Ajrreement and
Security Agreement (Receivables) between the Company and Bank of Ainerica N.A.
10.37 Separation Agreement dated August 15, 2005 between the Company and Hubert A. 1.
Whyte.
10.38 *  Fiscal 2006 Benus Plan.
10.38A * Revised Fiscal 2006 Bonus Plan.
10.39*  Form of Change of Control Agreement entered into on May 3, 2006 betvreen the
« Company and each of C. Nicholas Kealting, Ir., John F. McGrath, Ir,, Talbot Harty and
Frank Slattery.
10.40 * Fiscal 2007 Compensation Plan for Gary L. Lau, Senior Vice President, ‘Jovernment
Sales.
1041 * Form of Retention Bonus Agreement effective July 18, 2006 between each of John F.
McGrath, Ir., Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and Frank Slattery, Vice
President and General Counsel.
21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant (as of May 27, 2005, and unchanged as of May 25, 2007).
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1 Certification of C. Nicholas Keating, Jr., President and Chief Executive Officer,
pursuant to Rule 15d-14 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of John F. McGrath, Jr., Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
pursvant to Rule [5d-14 of the Securitics and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuani to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of C. Nicholas Keating, Jr., President and Chief Executive Dfficer,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.
36
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322 Certification of John F. McGrath, Ir., Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,

pursuant to |8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002,

* Compensation plans or arrangements in which directors and executive officers are eligible (o participate.

References: Where indicated, the listed exhibit is incorporated by reference to a previous filing with the Sccurities
and Exchange Commission as identified by the relerence number corresponding to the applicable filing listed below.
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(8)
(9

(10)
(11)

(12)

(13}
{(14)

(15)

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal quarter ended December 24,
1995, originally filed on February 7. 1996.

Amendment No. 1 10 Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No, 001-10255) for the fiscal yeur
ended March 31, 1989, filed on July 25, 1989,

Aunual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1990,
filed on June 29, 1990,

Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal year ended March 26, 2003,
filed on June 19, 2003,

Registration Statement on Form §-8 (Nos, 33-33013 and 33-33063). filed on January 19, 1990,

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q} {(Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal quarter ended September 30.
2000. originally filed on November 13. 2000

Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1996,
filed on Junc 21, 1996,

Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal year ended March 30, 2001,
filed on June 28, 2001,

Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission Fite No. 001-10255) for the fiscal year ended March 29, 2002,
filed on June 14, 2002.

Registration Statement on Form 5-8 (No. 333-101962). filed on December 18, 2002,

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. Q01-10255) for the fiscal quarter ended December 24,
2004, filed on February 2, 2005.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q {(Commission File No. 001-10255) for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2005. filed on November 9, 2005.

Report on Ferm 8-K (Commission File No. 001-10255). filed on May 11, 2006.

Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-10253) for the fiscal year ended March 25, 2005,
filed on June 3. 2005.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-10235) for the fiscal quarter ended June 30. 2006.
filed on August 8, 2006.




SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NETWORK EQUIPMENT TE ZHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: May 25, 2007 By: _fs/C. NICHOLAS KEATING, JR.
C. Nicholas Keating, Jr.,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the reguirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indic ted.

Signature Title Date

{s/ C. NICHOLAS KEATING, JR. President, Chief Executive Officer and Director May 25, 2007
C. Nicholas Keating, Jr. {Principal Executive Officer)

fs/ JOHUN F. MCGRATH, IR. Vice President and Chief Financial Officer May 25, 2007
John F. McGrath, Ir. (Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

/s DIXON R. DOLL Chairman of the Board May 23, 2007
Dixon R. Doll
/s/ FREDERICK D. D’ ALESSIO Director May 25, 2007

Frederick D. D’ Alessio

/s/ DAVID R. LAUBE Director May 25, 2007
David R, Laube

/s/ PETER SOMMERER Director May 25, 2007
Peter Sommerer
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NETWORK EQUIPMENT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

(In thousands)

Description

For the year ended March 25, 2005;

Allowance for doubtful accounts and
sales returns

For the year ended March 31, 2006;

Allowance for doubtful accounts and
sales returns

For the year ended March 30, 2007:

Allowance for doubtful accounts and
sales returns

SCHEDULE NI

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged Charged Balance at
beginning of  to costs and 10 other Deduction/ end of
period expenses accounts write-offs period
$ 240 $ 32 § 22¢(1y § (63 § 231
5 231 $ 133 S 141(¢1) § (369 0§ 136
$ 136 3 13 § 32(h % (162) $ 39

(1) Amount represents additions or deductions to accounts receivable allowances representing sales return reserve
that were charged or credited primarily to revenue.
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Corporate Directory and Information
Corporate Directory

C. Nicholas Keating, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

John F. McGrath, Jr.
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Talbot A. Harty
Vice President & General Manager
Voice and Mohility Solutions

Gary L. Lau
Senior Vice President, Government Sales

Frank Slattery
Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Directors

Dixon R. Doll
Chatrman of the Board, N.E.T.
Cofounder and General Partner, DCM

Frederick D. D'Alessio
General Partner,
Capitol Management Partners

C. Nicholas Keating, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer, N.E.T.

David B. Laube
Executive In Residence, School of Business,
University of Colorade-Denver

Corporate Information

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m.

on August 4, 2007, at the Company's headquarters in
Fremant, California.

Annual Certifications

In connection with the Company's 2006 Annual Written
Affirmation to the NYSE, the Company's CEQ certified that
he 1s not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE
corporate governance listing standards. The Company filed
with the SEC, in its most recently filed Form 10-K, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 certification regarding the
quality of the Company’s public disclosure.

NET on the Internet

Network Equipment Technologies' home page on the World
Wide Web contains background on the Company and its
praducts, financials, and other useful information. Qur
webstte is located at www.net.com, the first address in
netwarking, or visit Investor Relations directly at
http://ir.net.com.

Investor Relations

Network Equipment Technologies, Inc. welcomes inquiries
from its stockholders and other interested investors. To
access the Company's Annual Report, Form 10-K, quarterly
financial results, and other corporate information, please
visit our website, or contact Investor Relations at:
Network Equipment Technologies, Inc..

6900 Paseo Padre Parkway, Fremani, CA 94555,
investor_relations@net.com, 510-713-7300.

fransfer Agent
Computershare Trust Company, N.A,
Providence, Rhode Island

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
San Jose, California

Forward-looking Statements Statements made in this
annual report, including the letter 1o stockholders, that are
not a description of historical facis are forward-looking
statements. Actual results may differ materially due ta the
risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company's business
and business strategy, such as those involving product
development, customer adoption, and market opportunities.







